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        1                     P R O C E E D I N G S

        2                     Monday, March 29, 2010

        3                             - - -

        4                   MR. LITTS:  We are reconvening the hearing with

        5      regards to the proposed revocation of the charter for

        6      Pocono Mountain Charter School.  This is the March 29th,

        7      2010, hearing session.  To my left we have three board

        8      members if they could identify themselves for the record.

        9                   MR. BOCKELMAN:  Henry Bockelman.

       10                   MR. SMITH:  Rick Smith.

       11                   MR. STERN:  Michael Stern.

       12                   MR. LITTS:  Thank you, gentlemen.  And the

       13      charter school is in the process of presenting its case and,

       14      Mr. Fennick, you can call your first witness today.

       15                   MR. FENNICK:  Yes.  Before we do that,
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       16      Mr. Litts, Miss Schurdak and I have had a discussion about a

       17      letter that she wrote to you and to us on August 11th, '09,

       18      which indicated that some of the grounds in the May 21st,

       19      '08 resolution were not being pursued at this time.

       20                   MR. LITTS:  And that's already been placed into

       21      the record, so call your first witness.

       22                   MR. FENNICK:  Well, there are --

       23                   MR. LITTS:  Call your first witness.

       24                   MR. FENNICK:  Mr. Litts, I would -- various

       25      items have been placed on record at various items.  I just
�
                                                                      1464

        1      went over this with Miss Schurdak.  She went through the

        2      list that we put on the record in February and it did not

        3      contain one of the items that is in this letter.  So, I

        4      want --

        5                   MR. LITTS:  Is that your understanding, Miss

        6      Schurdak?

        7                   MS. SCHURDAK:  It is, Mr. Litts.  It's Item No.

        8      11 in the revocation notice.

        9                   MR. LITTS:  Item No. 11 in the revocation list

       10      is placed into the record.  You can call your first witness.

       11                   MR. FENNICK:  Thank you.  I call Mr. Robert

       12      Schoch.

       13                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Before Mr. Schoch testifies,

       14      Mr. Litts, I do want to make you and the board aware that I

       15      did not receive this expert report until March 25th.  I have

       16      done my best to be prepared for cross today.

       17                   I have also received two Redwells that are

       18      contained in this box of documents from Mr. Fennick on

       19      Thursday of last week.  While many of those documents are

       20      duplilcative, some of not, some contain dates in the Fall of
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       21      2009.  I may use documents today that I have not shared with

       22      Mr. Fennick in advance of today's hearing and that's because

       23      I prepared over the weekend because of the late production

       24      of those documents.

       25                   MR. LITTS:  Noted for the record.  I also note
�
                                Schoch - Voir Dire                    1465

        1      for the record that another board member just joined us if

        2      she could identify herself for the record.

        3                   MS. SIROLLI:  Dorothy Sirolli.

        4                   MR. LITTS:  Thank you.  Mr. Fennick, you can

        5      begin your cross examination.

        6                              - - -

        7                   ROBERT SCHOCH, having been duly sworn according

        8      to law, testified as follows:

        9      VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION BY MR. FENNICK:

       10             Q     Mr. Schoch, could you give us your name and

       11      your business address, please?

       12             A     Robert Schoch.  My address is 32 Sunset Circle,

       13      Lititz, Pennsylvania.

       14             Q     And what is it that you do for a living?

       15             A     I am a school business administrator for the

       16      last 26 years.

       17             Q     Can you tell us what your educational

       18      background is?

       19             A     My educational background includes a Master's

       20      degree in Education and I'm completing a doctoral program in

       21      Penn State in Educational Leadership.

       22                   (CURRICULUM VITAE and REPORT marked for

       23      identification as Charter School Exhibit No. 20 & 21.)

       24             Q     I have placed before you a document which we

       25      have identified as Charter School Exhibit 20.  Do you -- do
�
                                Schoch - Voir Dire                    1466
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        1      you have that in front of you?

        2             A     Yes, I do.

        3             Q     And is that your curriculum vitae?

        4             A     Yes, it is.

        5             Q     Does that accurately reflect your education and

        6      professional experience?

        7             A     Yes.

        8             Q     I just want to highlight a couple of things

        9      now.  Tell us what school district you currently work with?

       10             A     Since January of this year I've worked at the

       11      North Penn School District.

       12             Q     Where is that located?

       13             A     Montgomery County.

       14             Q     And going backwards tell us some of the other

       15      districts that you've worked for and what you have done.

       16             A     Same position, Director of Business

       17      Administration, at Council Rock for nearly five years.

       18      Prior to that Reading School District for two years, school

       19      district of Lancaster for seven and a half years, 12 years

       20      at the Penn Manor School District in Millersville,

       21      Pennsylvania.

       22             Q     Have you testified as an expert witness before?

       23             A     Yes.  I was involved with the Edison Schools

       24      when the charter program first began in Pennsylvania and

       25      worked on some issues regarding the school in York,
�
                                Schoch - Voir Dire                    1467

        1      Pennsylvania.

        2             Q     Is that when we first game became acquainted?

        3             A     Yes, it was.

        4             Q     Have you testified for me in any other matter

        5      since that time?
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        6             A     No.

        7                   MR. FENNICK:  Based on the qualifications in

        8      the Exhibit 20 I would offer Mr. Schoch as an expert and ask

        9      Attorney Schurdak if she has any questions regarding his

       10      qualifications.

       11                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I do, but I would like to make

       12      the record made clear.  An expert in what?

       13                   THE WITNESS:  School business administration.

       14                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Public school.

       15                   THE WITNESS:  Correct.

       16                   MR. FENNICK:  I apologize.  That's my oversight

       17      for not mentioning that.  He's here to testify about two

       18      issues.  One is the issue regarding excessive compensation

       19      to Pastor Bloom and the other is a statement made by one of

       20      the district witnesses regarding funding for Special

       21      Education students and whether declassifying students

       22      results in an increase or decrease in revenue to a school.

       23                             - - -

       24      VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION BY MS. SCHURDAK:

       25             Q     Good morning, Mr. Schoch, I'm Ellen Schurdak.
�
                                Schoch - Voir Dire                    1468

        1      Have you been -- strike that.  Have you ever been qualified

        2      as an expert in the field of establishing salaries for

        3      not-for-profit companies?

        4             A     No.  I will say, though, that I have reviewed

        5      a number of charter school applications in my position as

        6      school business administrator and have worked with the

        7      Edison School program as they staffed up their charter

        8      schools.

        9             Q     In fact, your resume only contains two entries

       10      relating to your experience with negotiating contracts.

       11      Correct?
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       12             A     I've been involved in personnel administration

       13      issues my entire career negotiating a number of contracts

       14      with different bargaining units.

       15             Q     Well, it's not listed on your resume; is it,

       16      sir?

       17             A     That is a typical duty of a school business

       18      administrator.

       19             Q     You're not answering the question.  Is it or is

       20      it not on your resume?

       21             A     I'll have to take a look at the details of the

       22      resume.

       23             Q     I think I can represent to you there are only

       24      two entries that actually address ....

       25             A     That would be a detail.  I would assume that to
�
                                Schoch - Voir Dire                    1469

        1      be correct, but I would state that I have been involved in

        2      dozens of school district negotiations with all bargaining

        3      units.

        4             Q     How many contracts have you negotiated for

        5      school administrators in the last five years?

        6             A     I have been involved in the Act 93 discussions.

        7      I am specifically exempted from qualifying for Act 93,

        8      but that is the act that governs all school administrative

        9      salaries.  I've worked with the board in negotiating those

       10      administrative salaries for -- ever since that law was

       11      passed about a dozen years ago.

       12             Q     How are collective bargaining agreement

       13      negotiations different from negotiating Act 93 contracts?

       14             A     The Act 93 is a meet and discuss format that

       15      has become more similar over the years to a normal

       16      collective bargaining agreement.
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       17                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I will stipulate that this

       18      gentleman can be qualified as an expert for school district

       19      business administrator issues, but not as it relates to

       20      charter school or not-for-profit issues.  I have one

       21      qualification as to that particular area of expertise.

       22                   MR. LITTS:  Any further cross?

       23                   MS. SCHURDAK:  No.

       24                   MR. LITTS:  We'll note the objection for the

       25      record.  Mr. Schoch's here.  The board will be free to give
�
                                Schoch - Voir Dire                    1470

        1      whatever weight to Mr. Schoch's testimony as any other

        2      expert testimony that is been offered by either side in the

        3      proceedings.

        4                   So, with that, Mr. Fennick, you can begin your

        5      direct.

        6                             - - -

        7      DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FENNICK:

        8             Q     All right, Mr. Schoch, I just want to clear up

        9      one or two things so the board understands this.  Miss

       10      Schurdak said there are only two items in your resume about

       11      negotiating agreements.  Does one of those items include a

       12      Reading -- state that you were on the negotiating team for

       13      five labor agreements?

       14             A     Correct.  There were seven bargaining units in

       15      the Reading School District.

       16             Q     And then in your work for Council Rock, the

       17      last item says, "Negotiation team for salary concessions and

       18      contract extensions."

       19             A     Yes.

       20             Q     Tell us about that.

       21             A     That involved a salary give-back negotiated

       22      last spring.
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       23             Q     Now, when you were working for the school

       24      district of Lancaster did the school district create or run

       25      a charter school?
�
                                 Schoch - Direct                      1471

        1             A     The school district applied for one of the

        2      first applications for to run a cyber charter school run

        3      closely in conjunction with the school district.  I was the

        4      district liaison for that entire application process which

        5      was successfully approved.

        6             Q     And what other contacts have you had where you

        7      had the opportunity to review salaries of charter school

        8      administrators?

        9             A     Several charter school applications came

       10      forward while I was with the school district of Lancaster.

       11                   In addition, I worked with Edison on both the

       12      Chester School District and some work in Philadelphia when

       13      they were putting the charter school program together.

       14             Q     Is information on administrator salaries in

       15      charter schools available to you?

       16             A     Yes, it is.

       17             Q     And how do you find that information?

       18             A     The information for over 150,000 salaries for

       19      Pennsylvania school employees is available on a searchable

       20      website run by the Gannett news company.

       21             Q     And does that -- when you say school

       22      administrators does that include charter school

       23      administrators?

       24             A     Yes, it does for 118 charter schools.

       25             Q     How many of those are in Pennsylvania?
�
                                 Schoch - Direct                      1472

        1             A     All of those are Pennsylvania charter schools.
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        2             Q     And is there any other information available

        3      about those charter schools including enrollment, numbers of

        4      staff members, those kinds of things?

        5             A     Yes.  All of the staff are listed for each

        6      school and on other websites you can find the current

        7      enrollment for the school.  If you go back a year or two you

        8      can find in the Department of Education website the

        9      enrollment of the school both for Special Education and

       10      regular charter school students.

       11             Q     So, did I ask you in this case to evaluate the

       12      salary of the chief administrative officer for the Pocono

       13      Mountain Charter School?

       14             A     Yes.

       15             Q     Tell us what steps you took to do that.

       16             A     The first thing I did based on my experience

       17      was considered the relationship of this position in a new

       18      charter school to the duties of a superintendent and

       19      business administrator in a public school and in the area

       20      of a superintendent, of course, they have all executive

       21      responsibilities by law.  These range from board

       22      relationships to instructional leadership, curriculum

       23      development, all regulatory compliance, personnel

       24      administration, negotiation of contracts, implementation of

       25      professional development programs, public relations,
�
                                 Schoch - Direct                      1473

        1      supervision, benefits administration, and other things.

        2                   Now, most public schools have a business

        3      administrator who takes on some of those responsibilities as

        4      well.  The one thing to consider in the salary of a chief

        5      administrative officer of a charter school is that often

        6      these are startup organizations that require some additional

        7      workload and, perhaps, a special skill set in the early
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        8      years of a charter school.

        9                   So, I considered that -- in considering that

       10      these positions as a charter school administrator, chief

       11      administrative officer, fall somewhere between

       12      superintendent and business administrator, possibly even

       13      more akin to the director of a vocational school, I looked

       14      at information available from the Pennsylvania School Board

       15      Association and that is included in my report.

       16                   Of course, that information needs to be

       17      adjusted for regional cost differences.  We're in one of the

       18      more expensive areas in Pennsylvania, so the average data

       19      presented in the report needs to be adjusted upwards as it

       20      is with various state funding formulation at the moment.

       21             Q     Let me stop you for a moment.  After you looked

       22      at the duties of the superintendent and a charter school

       23      chief administrative officer what conclusion did you draw

       24      about what salaries you should be looking at to determine

       25      whether a CAO salary is appropriate?
�
                                 Schoch - Direct                      1474

        1             A     Something between the superintendent and the

        2      business administrator.

        3             Q     Okay.  Then go ahead with the salary study that

        4      you did.

        5             A     So, then I looked at the salaries of comparable

        6      positions in this area, Monroe County specifically, for the

        7      most recent period available.  Those superintendent salaries

        8      range from 131,953 to 160,000 and the business

        9      administrative salaries range from 93,600 to 119,741.

       10             Q     What did you do next once you had those

       11      salaries established?

       12             A     Then I looked at all salaries for chief
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       13      administrative officers for charter schools, 118 salaries,

       14      put them into salary ranges in $25,000.00 increments.  That

       15      analysis indicated that 16 percent of the salaries paid to

       16      charter school administrators, chief administrators, were

       17      above the salary range paid to this position and another

       18      14 percent were within that salary range.  These were

       19      $25,000.00 ranges.

       20             Q     Now, did you look at the duties that Pastor

       21      Bloom has undertaken for the charter school?

       22             A     Yes, I did.  I reviewed the job description.

       23             Q     And what conclusion did you come to with regard

       24      to his salary as chief administrative officer for the

       25      charter school?
�
                                 Schoch - Direct                      1475

        1             A     That -- it is within range for charter schools

        2      in this -- throughout Pennsylvania and within range of

        3      public school system salaries in this region.

        4             Q     Now, what role does the number of students in

        5      the charter school play in your analysis?

        6             A     I then looked at other charter schools to

        7      determine the size of those schools and the amount of

        8      staffing that they had and other issues.

        9                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'm going to object at this

       10      point.  There is nothing in Mr. Schoch's report regarding

       11      number of students or any analysis done.

       12                   MR. FENNICK:  Well, I think it's within the

       13      fair scope of his report to talk about why he decided

       14      certain numbers were valid and what research he did to

       15      establish that.

       16                   MR. LITTS:  I will note it isn't in the report,

       17      but I will overrule the objection.

       18             Q     Go ahead, Mr. Schoch.  You were saying you
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       19      looked at staffing of charter schools.

       20             A     For example -- I will give self examples of

       21      similar sized organizations and I think the question that

       22      was raised was the amount of staffing for those schools.

       23             Q     Okay.

       24             A     So, when I looked at the Boys Latin of

       25      Philadelphia, charter School, 360 students, there are --
�
                                 Schoch - Direct                      1476

        1      there's a principal, system administrator, director of

        2      admissions and enrollment, an executive director of

        3      administration, a chief executive officer, an institutional

        4      advancement position, dean of instruction facilities,

        5      director of climate and community, and executive assistant.

        6                   When I looked at Bear Creek Community Charter

        7      in Luzerne County there's a chief academic officer/

        8      principal, an assistant principal, school operations

        9      assistant, an accountant, a Special Ed. coordinator, and a

       10      chief executive officer for 423 students.

       11                   When I looked at Young Scholars Charter School,

       12      enrollment of 200 in Grades 6 to 8; chief executive officer,

       13      director of high school placement, director of culture,

       14      director of operations, director of development and external

       15      affairs, and operations assistant.

       16                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I note for the record that the

       17      witness is referring to documents.  I would like to have an

       18      opportunity to refer to those documents and see them.

       19                   MR. LITTS:  Mr. Fennick, do you have an extra

       20      copy for Ms. Schurdak?

       21                   MR. FENNICK:  No, I don't.  Mr. Schoch is

       22      looking at documents in his own file.

       23                   MR. LITTS:  Well ... if the witness is
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       24      referring to other documents other than what's been marked

       25      as an exhibit then they should be made available to counsel.
�
                                 Schoch - Direct                      1477

        1                   Miss Schurdak, do you have a copy of now?

        2                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I do.  It will take me a while

        3      to read through these things but, yes, I do.

        4                   MR. LITTS:  Is there any reason why Mr. Fennick

        5      can't continue his examination?

        6                   MS. SCHURDAK:  None whatsoever.

        7                   MR. LITTS:  Mr. Fennick, you may continue.

        8             Q     Now, did you just give to Miss Schurdak all of

        9      the schools that you are referring to or do you still have a

       10      couple ....

       11             A     No, I gave her the ones that I was referring

       12      to.  There are a couple larger schools there, but I

       13      reflected only those of a similar enrollment.

       14             Q     So, would you say that the numbers of

       15      administrators in the schools you referred to are similar to

       16      the number of administrators at the Pocono Mountain Charter

       17      School?

       18             A     Yes.

       19             Q     Miss Schurdak might ask you how can you compare

       20      the salary of a superintendent of a school district that has

       21      thousands of students with the salary of a chief

       22      administrator officer of a charter school that might have

       23      200, 300, 400 students.  What do you say to that?

       24             A     Well, when you look at all of the regulations

       25      that a charter school must comply with and all of the
�
                                 Schoch - Direct                      1478

        1      duties, although the size might be smaller the duties remain

        2      fairly similar; tremendous amount of reporting on the

        3      financial and child accounting, all the duties related to
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        4      personnel administration, compliance with state and federal

        5      law, payroll administration, numerous other things.  So,

        6      I believe that the range of duties is virtually identical.

        7      Very few things have been exempted from compliance for the

        8      charter schools.

        9             Q     Now, I want to move on to the issue of

       10      Special Education funding.  Before I do that, though, I want

       11      to clear up the record.  You have given us an opinion that

       12      Pastor Bloom's salary is within the range of other chief

       13      administrative officers for charter schools in Pennsylvania.

       14      Is that opinion given within a reasonable degree of

       15      professional certainty?

       16             A     Yes, it is.

       17             Q     Now, let's go to the Special Education issue.

       18      Did I ask you to prepare a report on the impact of

       19      declassifying students from Special Education on the

       20      revenue received by a charter school?

       21             A     Yes, you did.

       22                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'll object at this point and I

       23      don't believe this witness has been certified as an expert

       24      in the field addressing Special Ed. financing.

       25                   MR. LITTS:  Hold up.  Maybe at the risk of
�
                                 Schoch - Direct                      1479

        1      jumping to conclusions, I think I know where this is going

        2      and, Mr. Schoch, maybe you could clarify this for me.  I am

        3      assuming, sir, that you did take a look at the Charter

        4      School Law and Special Education students are funded as

        5      specified by that law.  Is that correct, sir?

        6             A     Correct.  I'm limiting my comments to the

        7      funding only.

        8                   MR. LITTS:  Well, I'll note your objection.
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        9      I'm going to allow the line of questioning because -- well,

       10      I'll keep my opinions to myself.  So, Mr. Fennick you may

       11      continue.

       12             Q     Mr. Schoch, in the districts that you have

       13      worked in as business administrator have those districts had

       14      charter schools in them?

       15             A     Yes.

       16             Q     You mentioned Lancaster.  Any of the others?

       17             A     Reading.

       18             Q     And as business administrator is it important

       19      for you to know what the funding is for charter schools?

       20             A     Yes, and let me elaborate on my previous answer

       21      as well.  For every district it's necessary to fill out

       22      annually a state form to determine the cost of your district

       23      operation and how that cost will be used to reimburse any

       24      charter school including the on-line cyber charter school.

       25      So, I've completed those documents ever since the charter
�
                                 Schoch - Direct                      1480

        1      school has been in effect.

        2             Q     Is that known as a PDE Form 363?

        3             A     Correct.

        4             Q     By the way, there's water to your left if you

        5      need it.

        6                   So, tell the board just in general the overall

        7      framework of a 363.  What's the theory behind it?

        8             A     The theory behind is it that the charter school

        9      should be receiving funding adequate to a charter school

       10      operation excluding certain expenses not found in charter

       11      schools.

       12             Q     Such as ...?

       13             A     Well, sometimes you have building expenses and

       14      other funding sources that are not involved in a charter
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       15      school.

       16             Q     And the 363 for this district, if I told you

       17      that transportation is provided by the Pocono Mountain

       18      School District rather than the charter school does the

       19      363 reflect that?

       20             A     Correct.

       21             Q     And how does it reflect that?

       22             A     It would not include that for the charter

       23      school since the charter school does not provide that.

       24             Q     So, could we tell by looking at a 363 how much

       25      a charter school is going to receive per student from the
�
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        1      sending school district?

        2             A     Yes, and that would differ for each sending

        3      school district and there would be an amount for the regular

        4      students listed on the form as non-Special and the Special

        5      Ed. students listed on the form separately.

        6             Q     And, by the way, is this information publicly

        7      available?

        8             A     I've not found it publicly available, but it's

        9      in the business office subject to a Right To Know request.

       10             Q     And all the studies and the websites that you

       11      looked at on charter school salaries and public school

       12      salaries, is that data publicly available?

       13             A     The -- the salaries and all the other data,

       14      including enrollment, yes, that's all available from the

       15      PDE website and other sources I've cited in my report.

       16             Q     So, let's go back to Special Education.  On the

       17      363 is there some type of indication of a change in revenue

       18      if a student is classified as a Special Education student?

       19             A     Yes, there is.  It's separately stated.

Page 18



29MR10A1
       20             Q     And does a charter school get more money or

       21      less money for Special Education students?

       22             A     More money.

       23             Q     And when a student is declassified what impact

       24      does that have on the revenue that the charter school has

       25      for that student?
�
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        1             A     The charter school would no longer get that

        2      revenue for a Special Education student.

        3             Q     And are you aware of the number of Special

        4      Education students and Special Education staff at the

        5      Pocono Mountain Charter School over the past few years?

        6             A     Yes.  I received an e-mail in the last week.

        7             Q     If there is a suggestion that by declassifying

        8      Special Education students the charter school can save on

        9      staffing costs has your evaluation of the data indicated

       10      that the charter school has reduced staff when the number

       11      of Special Education students has gone down?

       12                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I would note for the record that

       13      the witness is looking at a blue piece of paper and

       14      appearing to have no independent recollection and having to

       15      refer to a written document.

       16                   MR. LITTS:  Well, before we jump to conclusions

       17      as to this witness's recollection, Mr. Schoch, if you have

       18      personal notes that you're referring to in your testimony --

       19             A     Yes, I do because I did not look at those

       20      enrollments or those staffing levels specifically going back

       21      three years.  So, the charter school sent me that

       22      information.

       23                   MR. LITTS:  Do we have a copy for Ms. Schurdak

       24      then?

       25                   MS. SCHURDAK:  And this is way beyond the scope
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        1      of his report, but I will certainly take his notes.

        2             A     Well, I guess the question is should I be

        3      providing all of these notes or -- I guess I'll refer to

        4      Mr. Fennick to determine that.

        5                   MR. FENNICK:  Yeah, if that's the data that you

        6      worked from.

        7             A     This e-mail, the printout was not very good --

        8                   MR. LITTS:  Well, let's just share the copy

        9      with Miss Schurdak.

       10                   MS. SCHURDAK:  It's very small font, so I'll

       11      have to ....

       12             Q     Does the data that I provided to you support

       13      the proposition that the charter school is declassifying

       14      Special Education students so that it can eliminate Special

       15      Education staff?

       16                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'm going to object.  I don't

       17      think -- there's been no foundation through this gentleman

       18      to be able to make a conclusion.

       19                   MR. LITTS:  Well, I don't even know if we need

       20      testimony about this, Mr. Fennick.  I mean, as someone who

       21      is advising the school board, I am aware of the statutory

       22      provision on how school districts have to pay for their

       23      resident students who attend a charter school.  There's a

       24      basic rate for a regular ed. student.  If the student

       25      qualifies for Special Education services there's an
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        1      additional amount of money that gets paid.  Ergo, if a kid

        2      is Special Education and is declassified and becomes regular

        3      ed. the district will pay less money.  I think we all know

        4      that, Mr. Fennick.  So, unless there is something I'm
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        5      missing, some additional twist, we're cognizant of that

        6      fact.

        7                   So, I'm not telling you how to run your case,

        8      but that's a pretty basic fact that's in the statute.  I

        9      think that's what Mr. Schoch is testifying to.  So, let's

       10      move on if you don't have anything further from that.

       11                   MR. FENNICK:  I would have agreed until

       12      Dr. Gustafson testified that the charter school makes money

       13      by declassifying students.  So, that's when I --

       14                   MR. LITTS:  Well, I don't recall any such

       15      statement.  We can look at the transcript and, again, the

       16      board will make its findings, but unless you have something

       17      else let's move on.

       18             Q     Well, Mr. Schoch, did you hear Mr. Litts's

       19      summary of how the Special Education funding works?

       20             A     Yes, I did.

       21             Q     And do you agree that he summarized it

       22      correctly?

       23             A     Yes.

       24                   MR. FENNICK:  Cross examination.

       25                             - - -
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        1      CROSS EXAMINATION BY MS. SCHURDAK:

        2             Q     Good morning, Mr. Schoch.  You were aware when

        3      you drafted your report that's been identified as CS-21 that

        4      this report was going to be used in the hearing today?

        5             A     Yes, I was.

        6             Q     You would agree with me that there's nothing in

        7      your report to indicate that you reviewed Pastor Bloom's

        8      contract.

        9             A     Nothing in the report to indicate that,

       10      correct.
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       11             Q     And, in fact, sir, did you review -- there's

       12      nothing in the report to indicate that you reviewed the

       13      assistant CEO's contract, correct?

       14             A     Nothing in the report, correct, although I did

       15      review the Dennis Bloom contract.

       16             Q     Did you review his wife's contract?

       17             A     Pardon?

       18             Q     Did you review his wife's contract?

       19             A     No, I did not.

       20             Q     Did you review the principal's contract?

       21             A     No, I did not review all of the contracts for

       22      the charter school.  I reviewed the chief administrative

       23      officer contract because that's what I was asked to look at.

       24             Q     Were you aware before testifying today that for

       25      a period of time the top two positions in the charter school
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        1      were filled by Pastor Bloom and his wife?

        2             A     Attorney Fennick had mentioned that to me.

        3             Q     You don't address that issue in the report at

        4      all, do you, sir?

        5             A     Because I believe it's no longer the case.

        6             Q     Can you look at Tab 49 in the Binder 1, Volume

        7      1?  Tab 49 is School exhibit No. 17 and this is the

        8      employment agreement for Pastor Bloom.  That is the contract

        9      you reviewed, sir?

       10             A     Yes, it is.

       11             Q     Before that, if I remember correctly, in SD-16

       12      is his wife's contract, Gricel Bloom.  Can you tell me the

       13      contract period for assistant CEO, Mrs. Bloom?

       14                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm going to object.  The

       15      document speaks for itself.  It's been admitted.
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       16                   MR. LITTS:  Sustained.

       17             Q     I'm sorry, did you review a document that I'll

       18      have marked as SD ....

       19                   MS. SCHURDAK:  48, is it, or 47?

       20                   MR. LITTS:  47.

       21                   (G. BLOOM CONTRACT marked for identification as

       22      SD Exhibit No. 47.)

       23             Q     I'll have you go between these three contracts.

       24                   MR. FENNICK:  And I'm going to object to it.

       25                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Basis?
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        1                   MR. FENNICK:  He said he didn't review it.

        2      If you want the witness to take up everybody's time

        3      comparing one line with another line I don't think that's

        4      appropriate.  That's a fact finding function of the board.

        5                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Well, he's made assumptions in

        6      his report that the duties of this position include

        7      responsibilities normally divided between the superintendent

        8      and the business administrator.  I think it is relevant for

        9      this board to know what are the job duties of the CEO,

       10      assistant CEO, and principal because if you read the three

       11      contracts they're the exact same job duties for all three

       12      administrators.

       13                   MR. FENNICK:  And that might be argument.

       14                   MR. LITTS:  Well, I mean, I'm going to overrule

       15      the objection to the extent this witness did testify as to

       16      the basis of which he ascertained his opinion as to the

       17      comparability of the CEO of the charter school to a school

       18      district superintendent and I do believe this would be

       19      fodder for cross.

       20             Q     Were you aware when you drafted this report

       21      that Pastor Bloom had testified under oath in November of
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       22      2009 that he doesn't negotiate contracts -- doesn't

       23      negotiate employment contracts for the charter school?

       24                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm going to object to that as a

       25      mischaracterization of the testimony.
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        1                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Okay, I'll get out

        2      November 23rd, 395.

        3                   MR. LITTS:  Based on that representation

        4      Miss Schurdak is going to withdraw the question and refer

        5      the witness to the transcript.

        6                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Yes.

        7             Q     Can you read for me, Mr. Schoch, Page 395

        8      starting with the question, Line 3, and concluding with the

        9      answer on 10.  And I'm going to represent to you -- you can

       10      read the cover sheet -- this is Pastor Bloom's sworn

       11      testimony.

       12                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm going to have to ask that

       13      that be expanded.  This is testimony on the signed contract

       14      and Attorney Schurdak is trying selectively have the witness

       15      read into the record portions of the testimony that exclude

       16      the testimony showing that this was about contract for the

       17      signing.

       18                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Negotiation of contracts is one

       19      of the things your witness lists as one of the job functions

       20      of the salary of chief administrative officer.  Pastor Bloom

       21      testified that it is the board that negotiates contracts.

       22                   MR. FENNICK:  Well, Mr. Litts, I stand on my

       23      objection.  She can't have him selectively read two lines

       24      when the third line clarifies exactly what she's talking

       25      about and it is, in fact, her question.
�
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        1                   MS. SCHURDAK:  And Page 382 also says that the

        2      lease negotiations between the church and school were done

        3      by the board as well.

        4                   MR. LITTS:  Hold up.  As I stated earlier,

        5      this is appropriate cross examination in light of this

        6      witness's testimony as to the job duties of the CEO of the

        7      charter school and determining the appropriateness of

        8      salary.  What I'm hearing is the attorneys don't agree on

        9      how to properly characterize Pastor Bloom's prior testimony.

       10      No surprise there.  I am asking counsel to try to be as

       11      objective in their characterizations of any direct or cross

       12      that Pastor Bloom previously gave during the proceedings,

       13      but, with that in mind, I will allow this line of

       14      questioning, to refer to that transcript, and, again, the

       15      board can refer back to that and form its own conclusions as

       16      to the appropriateness of any questions that counsel asked,

       17      if they believe it was a fair characterization of the

       18      testimony, and will proceed from there.

       19                   So, Miss Schurdak, you may continue.

       20             Q     I think I referred you to Page 395 and had you

       21      review a number of lines and you have the document in front

       22      of you, Mr. Schoch.  It's true, is it not, that on

       23      November 23rd, Pastor Bloom said that the board negotiated

       24      contracts.

       25             A     This is -- this refers to some agreement
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        1      negotiated in November of 2007.  I don't -- I did not read

        2      back further to find out what that agreement was.

        3             Q     But he did say that the board negotiated the

        4      agreement, didn't he?

        5             A     The answer was "First of all, I didn't

        6      negotiate anything.  The board talks to them.  I don't
Page 25



29MR10A1

        7      negotiate, the board handles those things."

        8             Q     Thank you.

        9             A     But I do not know what the agreement relates to

       10      that wasn't mentioned in the first -- in the question

       11      initially.

       12             Q     Page 383.  I can probably direct you ... and

       13      you may want to read 381 through 382.  I'll represent to you

       14      that this section is regarding the lease agreement between

       15      the church and the school.  And if you can tell me when

       16      you're done reviewing that.

       17             A     Just reading to be sure there's nothing between

       18      382 and 385 that relates to another agreement.  382 does

       19      talk about the lease of the building.

       20             Q     And a lease agreement between a church and --

       21      strike that.  Between a school and its landlord is something

       22      you would normally attribute to the CEO of the school,

       23      correct?  As a function.

       24             A     (No response.)

       25             Q     Mr. Schoch.
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        1             A     Well, there are times that others would be

        2      involved in that including the attorneys, the business

        3      administrator.

        4             Q     Well, Mr. Schoch, now I'm confused because in

        5      your report you said the chief administrative officer would

        6      do the job duties of the superintendent and the business

        7      administrator.

        8             A     Depending on the type of agreement there can be

        9      numerous parties involved.  I've even seen realtors

       10      authorized to negotiate leases, bring that back to the

       11      boards of directors for approval.  But, oftentimes the
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       12      superintendent or, in this case, the chief administrative

       13      officer would be making various contacts and determining who

       14      would best negotiate those agreements.

       15             Q     But in the case here with the charter school,

       16      in fact, Pastor Bloom did not have, according to his

       17      testimony that you just reviewed, direct involvement in

       18      those negotiations.  Correct?

       19             A     That's what it says.  I did not complete all

       20      the reading from Page 389 to 395, so I can't determine

       21      whether there was anything else brought into that discussion

       22      of an agreement.

       23             Q     And you weren't aware of that information when

       24      you prepared the report last week for testifying here today,

       25      correct?
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        1             A     When a job description talks about negotiating

        2      various agreements a school district can have hundreds of

        3      agreements and a charter school can have quite a number of

        4      agreements for anything from building leases to special

        5      educational services, contracts with employees, and many

        6      other things.

        7             Q     Now, in your report, sir, you say that there

        8      may be additional responsibilities to the charter school

        9      because of the startup of the school.  Do you remember

       10      saying that in your report?

       11             A     Yes, I did.

       12             Q     And you also referenced the startup of the

       13      charter school in your direct testimony with Attorney

       14      Fennick.  Do you remember that as well?

       15             A     Yes.

       16             Q     In fact, sir, the charter school isn't a

       17      startup school, is it?
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       18             A     Well, anytime you start a school, and the

       19      charter's been around for a dozen years or so in

       20      Pennsylvania, there are significant duties some of which

       21      precede the opening to students that are required and, so,

       22      oftentimes you will see all sorts of additional work

       23      involving the administrators in the charter school even

       24      before it opens.

       25                   Beyond that, the workload involved in all of
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        1      that, the public relations to speak with perspective

        2      students and their parents, there are numerous things

        3      involved that are not typical to coming into a new position

        4      in an existing school or school system.

        5                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I move to strike that as

        6      non-responsive to my question.

        7                   MR. LITTS:  I won't strike it, but I agree it's

        8      non-responsive.

        9             Q     Sir, what year did the charter school start

       10      operating as a charter school?  I see you're referring to

       11      some notes.  Do you have any independent recollection of

       12      when the charter school started as a charter school?

       13             A     No, I'm not exactly sure when it started.

       14             Q     And you didn't reference the startup of the

       15      charter school in your report, did you?

       16             A     No, I did not reference that, but the point is

       17      anytime you start a school and have the duties of promoting

       18      that school to perspective students, doing the building

       19      program necessary in the early years of a school, hiring new

       20      staff, setting up all the procedures, there are many things

       21      that are involved in starting a charter school different

       22      from running an existing operation.
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       23             Q     Well, sir, are you aware that the charter

       24      school, prior to becoming a charter school in 2003, had been

       25      a private Christian academy?
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        1             A     Ahh --

        2             Q     Were you aware of that?

        3             A     I wasn't --

        4             Q     Yes or no?

        5             A     I was aware --

        6                   MR. FENNICK:  Excuse me.  I think this witness,

        7      as a professional who runs an organization that this

        8      district belongs to is entitled to a little of an ability

        9      to explain his answers.

       10                   MR. LITTS:  Well -- hold up.

       11                   MR. FENNICK:  This is not a person accused of a

       12      crime that Attorney Schurdak has to prosecute.

       13                   MR. LITTS:  I'll ask both counsel to remember

       14      we want to keep some level of decorum.  So, Mr. Fennick, the

       15      efforts aren't necessary.

       16                   But the question was, Mr. Schoch, were you

       17      aware that prior to the opening of Pocono Mountain Charter

       18      School there was a private Christian academy that operated?

       19      Yes or no.

       20             A     Yes, I was aware that there was an existing

       21      school, but the extent of the building program required and

       22      compliance with all of the charter school requirements are

       23      what would be new to the conversion from a private school to

       24      a charter school.

       25             Q     Have you, in your experience that you discussed
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        1      in your direct with Mr. Fennick when he was asking you

        2      questions dealing with charter schools, ever seen a contract
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        3      tied to the superintendent's contract?

        4                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm going to object to the

        5      question as vague.

        6                   MR. LITTS:  Overruled.  The witness can refer

        7      to School District 17.

        8                   MR. FENNICK:  Well, I didn't know we were

        9      looking at School District 17.

       10                   MS. SCHURDAK:  That would be what I was going

       11      to refer to.

       12             Q     School District 17, sir, Tab, I believe, 49.

       13      If you look at Compensation.  Can you read under

       14      Compensation for me?

       15             A     "The salary of the chief executive officer will

       16      be based upon the salary of the superintendent of the Pocono

       17      Mountain School District times .8."

       18             Q     Have you ever seen a similar condition in other

       19      charter school employment contracts?

       20             A     No, but that type of relationship is common

       21      within salaries within a school district.

       22             Q     Well, the charter school is different than a

       23      school district; isn't it?

       24             A     That is correct.  I stated I have not seen that

       25      provision elsewhere.
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        1             Q     Is there a reason why you didn't mention that

        2      unusual provision in your expert report?

        3             A     Because the -- first of all, the relationship

        4      has not been at that 80 percent level.  It has not been

        5      maintained at that level in the charter school.

        6             Q     Now, in terms of what you reviewed prior to

        7      your coming to the hearing today to testify you went on line
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        8      and got some statistics from the Pennsylvania School Board

        9      Association; is that correct?

       10             A     Correct.  They also published that in a

       11      brochure that I referred to directly.

       12             Q     And in Table 1 you have average salaries in

       13      Pennsylvania for '07-'08.

       14             A     Correct.

       15             Q     Now, I noticed in your resume that you took the

       16      time to list the number of students associated with each

       17      district you were employed by over the years.  Is that

       18      correct?

       19             A     That was in reference to a specific question

       20      raised by the district that received that resume.

       21             Q     But the resume you produced here today

       22      references the number of students that were enrolled in each

       23      district when you worked at that particular district.

       24             A     That is correct.

       25             Q     And that's important information, isn't it?
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        1             A     Well, it goes to the types of skills, the level

        2      of specialization within other functions in a larger system

        3      and, so, in a larger system, similar to the size of Pocono

        4      Mountain School District, you can expect a additional

        5      specialization.  So, the type of person they were looking

        6      for when I submitted that resume -- they want to be sure

        7      someone had experience in a similar size school system.

        8                   Now, the relevant thing, though, is when --

        9      that does not change any of the requirements of the

       10      position.  In fact, oftentimes people in smaller

       11      organizations have a much wider range of day-to-day duties

       12      than you do in a larger system where it's more supervisory

       13      of specialists in that area; let's say, child accounting,
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       14      even accounting, facilities management, and other things.

       15             Q     I would ask that if you could just answer my

       16      questions and Mr. Fennick will have an opportunity on

       17      redirect.

       18                   MR. FENNICK:  The question was is it important.

       19                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Well --

       20                   MR. FENNICK:  That's a pretty broad --

       21                   MR. LITTS:  Just ask another question, please.

       22      Let's move on.

       23             Q     And in addition to just having more students

       24      you said that complexity can increase and that's because

       25      there's more buildings involved, correct?  Is one of the
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        1      factors.

        2             A     There would be more buildings, there may be

        3      more bargaining units, but my point is that the range of

        4      responsibilities in a smaller system requires a very full

        5      skill set to meet all of the requirements regardless of the

        6      size of the system.  But the abilities of the person, their

        7      knowledge of those systems, their ability to supervise may

        8      be reflected by the size of the organization.

        9             Q     But you didn't, prior to today, go to a charter

       10      school to see firsthand how it worked, did you?

       11             A     No, I did not.

       12             Q     In Table No. 2 for the salaries of comparable

       13      positions in Monroe County, comparable to what, sir?

       14             A     Chief administrative officer positions.  So,

       15      I listed both superintendent and business administrator.

       16             Q     Now, you received the information from a media

       17      server, right?  Garnet Company?  It's a newspaper, isn't it?

       18             A     The Gannett newspaper.  They have for a number
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       19      of years obtained the salaries for 150,000 school employees

       20      in Pennsylvania from the Department of Education.  I

       21      confirmed with the editor of the newspaper and also the

       22      Department of Education staff concerning the source of that

       23      information.

       24             Q     Well, sir, is there a reason why you didn't

       25      send out Right To Know requests to area school districts to
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        1      find out this information?

        2             A     The -- my focus was on 118 charter schools and

        3      the four school districts.  That would have been over 122

        4      Freedom of Information Act requests.  Very significant

        5      expense to do that.

        6             Q     Well, you have four school districts listed

        7      here and it's true, is it not, you do not list in your

        8      report how many students are enrolled in East Stroudsburg

        9      School District.  Correct?

       10             A     That's correct.  I did not -- based on my

       11      answers to the prior questions in the last few minutes I've

       12      continually stated that regardless of the size of the

       13      organization the requirements of the administration remain

       14      virtually identical.  So, in a smaller organization this

       15      person must have a very wide range of skills because they do

       16      not have specialists that have been able to receive the

       17      specialized training in a specific function.

       18             Q     You also don't list for any of the school

       19      districts the number of buildings associated within the

       20      school district, correct?

       21             A     That's correct.

       22             Q     In terms of -- I think you mentioned experience

       23      as being an important issue.  Did you -- strike that.

       24                   There's nothing in your report to indicate that
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       25      you looked at the Pocono Mountain School District
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        1      requirements to be a superintendent.  Is that correct?

        2             A     I did not mention in my report, but I did

        3      review those requirements.  And they are typical to other

        4      superintendents as well and some of them come directly from

        5      the Pennsylvania laws.

        6             Q     And there's nothing in your report to indicate

        7      that you reviewed the requirements from Pocono Mountain

        8      School District as it relates to being a business manager.

        9      Is that correct as well, Mr. Schoch?

       10             A     That's correct, because, again, those

       11      requirements are pretty standard throughout the state.

       12             Q     Now, Pastor Bloom doesn't have a Ph.D., does

       13      he?

       14             A     I did not review Pastor Bloom's qualifications.

       15      I was reviewing the salary established by the board of

       16      directors for the CAO position.

       17             Q     Well, wouldn't you need to know a person's

       18      qualifications before you can determine whether or not a

       19      salary is appropriate?

       20             A     I was looking at the salary for that position.

       21      The individual meets requirements of the state charter

       22      school law.

       23             Q     So, you did not know that Pastor Bloom had

       24      worked in security at Alexander's Department Store.

       25                   MR. FENNICK:  Objection.
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        1                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Basis?

        2                   MR. FENNICK:  He just said that he did not

        3      review Pastor Bloom's qualifications.  I would like to know

Page 34



29MR10A1
        4      if Attorney -- what her first job was because maybe we can

        5      criticize her abilities as an attorney because she worked at

        6      McDonald's.

        7                   MR. LITTS:  Mr. Fennick, that isn't necessary,

        8      sir.  The witness answered the question.  He's not familiar

        9      with Pastor Bloom's qualifications, he doesn't have any

       10      knowledge.  Let's move on to something else.  So, you don't

       11      have to answer the question.

       12                   Is there something else, Miss Schurdak?

       13                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Yes.

       14             Q     Were you aware that Pastor Bloom was given a

       15      travel allowance in addition to his salary?

       16             A     Yes.

       17             Q     The complexity of your job as business manager

       18      is also based on the size of the budget, isn't it, in your

       19      school district?

       20             A     Only slightly.  Every school district must

       21      complete a budget.  Whether we have a thousand positions or

       22      more or 250 positions you still must complete that budget.

       23      All the calculations, fringe benefits must be included.

       24      Many of the other responsibilities related to negotiating

       25      contracts, you still have most of the same facilities
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        1      contracts.  Virtually all of the requirements remain the

        2      same.  It's just a matter of the magnitude of the number of

        3      employees and the magnitude of the dollars, but the

        4      requirements remain relatively the same regardless of the

        5      size of the organization.

        6             Q     Now, in Table No. 3, again, you did not base

        7      the table on any personal information that you received

        8      through your research.

        9             A     I just set up salary ranges by $25,000.00
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       10      increments.

       11             Q     Now, you did not note in Table 3 anything

       12      according to geography.

       13                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm sorry?

       14                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Geography.

       15                   MR. FENNICK:  Thank you.

       16             A     That is correct.

       17             Q     And that would be important to know, wouldn't

       18      it?

       19             A     Well, the geography has been reflected in

       20      regional cost differences that have been incorporated into

       21      various studies of the financial adequacy of Pennsylvania

       22      schools.  The northeastern Pennsylvania region has upward

       23      multipliers to adjust all costs to reflect the cost, for

       24      instance, in the vicinity of New York City and northern

       25      New Jersey, Philadelphia, northern suburbs.
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        1             Q     So, just so I understand, you're saying

        2      Monroe County is a more expensive county to live in?  Is

        3      that what you're saying?

        4                   MR. FENNICK:  Objection.

        5                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I actually want clarification.

        6      It's in his report.

        7                   MR. FENNICK:  Your question did not ask for a

        8      comparison.

        9                   MR. LITTS:  Why don't we ask this differently?

       10      And I'll take over the questioning for a little bit here.

       11      Mr. Schoch, if I heard you correctly, in Table 3 in Charter

       12      School 21, you don't make any notation on differences of

       13      salary because of different regions in Pennsylvania,

       14      correct?
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       15             A     That's correct.

       16                   MR. LITTS:  But you did note in your testimony,

       17      if I heard you correctly, that depending on how close to

       18      metro areas some areas are more expensive than others,

       19      correct?

       20             A     I made a comment in relationship to Table 1

       21      where the averages were state wide.

       22                   MR. LITTS:  Understood.

       23             A     And need to be adjusted.

       24                   MR. LITTS:  Would that statement apply with

       25      regards to charter school salaries as set forth in Table 3?
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        1             A     Yes, because the costs in this region are

        2      higher than they are across the state.

        3                   MR. LITTS:  And that's where I think Miss

        4      Schurdak was going.  In your mind where does Monroe County

        5      compare?  Can you elaborate on that, sir?

        6             A     I would say it would be in the upper quarter of

        7      the cost statewide.

        8                   MR. LITTS:  Miss Schurdak?

        9             Q     Are you aware that the median value for

       10      a Monroe County home according to the 2000 census is

       11      $125,200.00, sir?

       12             A     I have not looked at that, but I also don't

       13      have the comparative data to determine that.  What I

       14      referred to is the adjustment factors being built into the

       15      state funding formula and those adjustment factors for the

       16      entire eastern part of the state are adjusted upwards due to

       17      regional cost differences.

       18             Q     Now, you were talking -- testifying on direct

       19      about Chester Community Charter School, Bear Creek, Boys

       20      Latin School of Philadelphia.  Is my memory correct?
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       21             A     I had selectively looked at charter schools

       22      within the salary change of this charter school to determine

       23      whether the size of those schools reflected anything with

       24      the salary or to determine the staffing levels of those

       25      schools and that's why I gave you selected examples and
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        1      highlighted the number of positions and the types of

        2      positions.

        3             Q     So, your process, just so I understand this,

        4      was after you learned what Pastor Bloom's salary was you

        5      then went and found other charter schools with similar

        6      salary ranges and based your conclusions based upon that

        7      analysis.  Is that the right process?

        8             A     Only in select examples.  I anticipated a

        9      question regarding the staffing levels of this charter and

       10      the other charter schools and while that information is

       11      relatively difficult to get you need to find a charter

       12      school with a website and find their staffing list on that

       13      website.  So, it's not easy to determine all that with

       14      readily available information.

       15             Q     Well, in fact, sir, you did not go and review

       16      any of the underlying documents relating to Chester

       17      Community Charter School.  You're basing your opinion based

       18      on what you read off the web.

       19             A     What I was looking at was only the positions

       20      that supported the chief administrative officer in those

       21      charter schools of different sizes and I focused in my

       22      testimony this morning on schools that had between 200 and

       23      400 enrollment.

       24             Q     You brought information with you today, sir,

       25      on Chester Community Charter School.
�
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        1             A     I did not refer to that one, I believe.

        2      That's a relatively large school, correct?

        3             Q     Yes.  Did you use the salary that the CEO makes

        4      at Chester Community Charter School as part of --

        5                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm going to have to --

        6             A     No, I was --

        7             Q     -- your determination on whether or not --

        8                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I understand you're going to

        9      object, but let me get the question out, please, Mr.

       10      Fennick.

       11             Q     On arriving at your conclusions here today.

       12                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm asking that he be allowed to

       13      see his documents again because these questions seem to

       14      pertain to what he knows about these other schools.

       15                   MR. LITTS:  And Miss Schurdak is providing

       16      those.

       17             Q     I'm just on Chester right now.

       18             A     I had given her my entire file.  I was focusing

       19      on schools of the enrollment from 200 to 400.  I did not

       20      focus on larger schools, I just kept them in my files, but,

       21      the point being, the -- all of these charter schools have a

       22      significant amount of additional central administrative

       23      staff supporting the chief administrative officer.

       24             Q     Sir, my question was, did you take the salary

       25      associated with the CEO of the Chester Community Charter
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        1      School into consideration when drafting your report here for

        2      us today?

        3             A     That salary is in one of the top bands.  I

        4      believe it's -- I could get you the exact salary, but I was

        5      just looking at the number of positions in each salary range
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        6      and then I looked at selected positions in the range of the

        7      Pocono Mountain Charter School salary to determine whether

        8      the size of the school affected that -- the amount of

        9      staffing in support of that position.

       10             Q     But as a business manager of a school district

       11      of over 11,000 students you would also expect a correlation

       12      between salary and experience, wouldn't you?

       13             A     Not a direct correlation at all.  If you look

       14      at Montgomery County, some of the higher salaries, for

       15      example, are in the smaller school districts.

       16             Q     No, it was about experience, sir, whether or

       17      not I've worked -- let me use an example here.  According to

       18      a document you printed off, I'm assuming from the Chester

       19      Community Charter School -- is that a printoff from their

       20      website?

       21             A     I did not mention that school.  You took it

       22      from my files and I did not mention that because it's a

       23      large school, was not comparable to the Pocono Mountain

       24      Charter School.

       25             Q     Okay, but my question is, sir, you would expect
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        1      someone who has worked in the field of education for over

        2      30 years to command a higher salary than someone who has not

        3      worked in the field of education.

        4                   MR. FENNICK:  Objection.  Does that question

        5      assume the exact same job?

        6                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Yes.

        7                   MR. FENNICK:  Okay.

        8                   MR. LITTS:  You can answer the question, sir.

        9             A     Charter schools are formed with many different

       10      missions --
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       11                   MR. LITTS:  Mr. Schoch, could you please just

       12      answer the question?  Does experience count in -- when

       13      you're looking at the same exact position and you have

       14      someone who has 30 years experience and someone who has 5

       15      years experience does that factor into salary for that

       16      position?

       17             A     Not in the case of the charter law because the

       18      charter law allowed people from other professions with other

       19      types of experience to enter the charter school

       20      administration.

       21                   MR. LITTS:  Next question.

       22             Q     Why didn't you look at Pastor Bloom's resume?

       23             A     The board of directors established a salary

       24      for this position that they felt was adequate to provide the

       25      qualifications necessary for this position.  I was looking
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        1      at the size of the school, the -- and the structure of the

        2      salary and the duties of that position when I was reviewing

        3      this.  I did not review all of the qualifications because I

        4      believed the question was is that salary adequate for this

        5      type of a school.

        6             Q     School District Exhibit No. 15, which I believe

        7      is Tab No. 47, and then if you go to 7B within that document

        8      I'm going to represent to you, Mr. Schoch, that this is the

        9      resume that has been produced by Pastor Bloom's attorney

       10      back in -- there's a date on the letter, but I believe it's

       11      2007.  And can you tell me when you're done reviewing that

       12      resume?

       13                   MR. FENNICK:  Did you say it's Tab ....

       14                   MS. SCHURDAK:  7A or 7B because there were

       15      exhibits within -- are you asking me for the tab number?

       16                   MR. FENNICK:  Yes.
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       17                   MS. SCHURDAK:  47.

       18                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm sorry, I'm asking within this

       19      exhibit where it is.

       20                   MS. SCHURDAK:  It is 7 -- I thought it was --

       21      it's within 7B, but, for some reason, there's handwriting

       22      that says 7A on the bottom right hand.

       23                   MR. FENNICK:  Okay.

       24             Q     Now, there's nothing in that resume regarding

       25      experience with personnel administration and hiring, is
�
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        1      there?

        2                   MS. SCHURDAK:  It's the June '07 letter.

        3             Q     Mr. Schoch?

        4             A     I'm not understanding the context of items

        5      listed several pages back, Pages 1 and 2.  Are those the

        6      resume of Dennis Bloom?

        7             Q     That's what I have asked you to refer to which

        8      I had in front of you.  There's a 7A in the right-hand

        9      corner.  Right here.

       10             A     7A is a summary of positions, but the other

       11      pages attached to that are references and then attachment

       12      7C, is that what you -- I thought you wanted me to look at

       13      7C, Page 1 and 2 as well.

       14             Q     No, just the resume, sir.

       15                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm sorry, Ellen, I'm having

       16      trouble.

       17                   MR. LITTS:  Dan, if you need -- I have it here.

       18                   MS. SCHURDAK:  This is it.

       19                   MR. LITTS:  So, we're all on the same page and

       20      we're referring to Pastor Bloom's resume which appears to be

       21      two pages which is contained within School District Exhibit
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       22      15.  Miss Schurdak, ask your question.

       23                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Thank you.

       24             Q     There's nothing in Pastor Bloom's resume to

       25      indicate that he has experience in personnel administration
�
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        1      and hiring, is there?

        2             A     This is a very brief summary of job experience,

        3      it's not a complete resume that I would need to have in

        4      front of me to answer that question.

        5             Q     Do you agree with me?

        6             A     I don't see it here because it's just listing

        7      position titles.  I don't see the duties under any of those

        8      positions.

        9             Q     Same then would hold true for the other duties

       10      that you put in your report as being key to holding the

       11      position of chief administrative officer.

       12                   MR. FENNICK:  Objection.  The document speaks

       13      for itself.

       14                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Then I'll go through it line by

       15      line.

       16                   MR. FENNICK:  Well, it still -- it says what it

       17      says.

       18                   MR. LITTS:  Well, it does, but the question is

       19      this:  I don't want to belabor this, but the witness, if I

       20      heard you, Mr. Schoch, correctly, testify you did not review

       21      Pastor Bloom's resume or any other underlying documents

       22      about his experience.  Is that correct?

       23             A     Correct.

       24                   MR. LITTS:  Would you agree with me, sir, that

       25      this two-page resume that you're being asked to look at by
�
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        1      Ms. Schurdak does not delineate in any type of fashion prior
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        2      experience on matters of personnel, contracts or construc-

        3      tion or all the other things you testified to earlier.

        4             A     This only lists position titles, no duties

        5      whatsoever.

        6                   MR. LITTS:  Thank you.  Ask you next question,

        7      Miss Schurdak.

        8             Q     Sir, is there a reason why you didn't do a

        9      Right To Know request to obtain the CEO's contract for

       10      charter schools located in Monroe County?

       11             A     First of all, I would have needed a much larger

       12      sampling.  There are 118 statewide.  That would have been a

       13      massive amount of work to assemble that; it was beyond the

       14      scope of what I was requested to do.

       15             Q     Sir, my question wasn't about going statewide,

       16      it was about sending a Right-to-Know request to charter

       17      schools in Monroe County.  Why didn't you do that?

       18             A     Because I had that information off the

       19      database.

       20             Q     But the database doesn't reference the number

       21      of students.  I'm looking at your Table No. 3.

       22             A     Correct.  I didn't feel that was relevant.

       23      Depending on the type of charter it -- you may need

       24      different skills regardless of the size of the school and,

       25      in addition, I stated continually that the range of
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        1      responsibilities of this position do not vary much based on

        2      size.

        3             Q     Now I'm confused, Mr. Schoch.  You just said

        4      that the skills are important.

        5                   MR. FENNICK:  If that's a question ... the

        6      objection is that he said what he said.
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        7             Q     So, the skills of the CEO are important in

        8      determining whether or not there's a reasonable salary for

        9      that individual, correct?

       10             A     A number of people have come into these

       11      positions without a lot of experience and received extensive

       12      training to get those skills in the early months or years of

       13      the position.

       14             Q     Did Pastor Bloom?

       15             A     I'm not sure.

       16                   MR. FENNICK:  Objection.  Objection.  He has

       17      said five or six times he has not reviewed Pastor Bloom's

       18      qualifications.

       19                   MS. SCHURDAK:  This is different.  It's about

       20      training.

       21                   MR. LITTS:  Withdraw the question and ask it

       22      again, please.

       23             Q     You testified that in the charter school arena

       24      it's not unusual for someone to get what I will term as

       25      on-the-job training.  Is that a correct paraphrase of what
�
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        1      you said?

        2             A     Yes.  There are a number of sources of that

        3      training including procedure manuals, so people have come

        4      from various backgrounds into these positions and done well.

        5             Q     But you do not know as you sit here today

        6      whether or not -- strike that.  What training Pastor Bloom

        7      has engaged in.

        8             A     Correct.

        9             Q     You would expect in Table No. 3 with the

       10      150,000 and above range for that category to include charter

       11      schools closer to Philadelphia, right?

       12             A     I did not look at that, so I did not do a
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       13      geographic quotation of all of those 19 positions.

       14             Q     Well, you work in Montgomery County now, right?

       15             A     Correct.

       16             Q     And at one point in time you worked in Reading,

       17      that school district.

       18             A     Correct.

       19             Q     Different local economy, isn't it?

       20             A     Correct.

       21             Q     In fact, when you went from Reading to your

       22      next school district you got an increase in pay, didn't you?

       23             A     Correct.

       24             Q     And when you drafted Table 3 you included in

       25      this table such schools as Chester Community Charter School,
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        1      right?

        2             A     I included all 118 in that charter.

        3             Q     And at least according to what you downloaded

        4      from the internet, Chester Community Charter School has 2500

        5      students, correct?

        6             A     Yes, there's the full range of a number of

        7      students in that charter.

        8             Q     And its CEO is purported to have over 30 years

        9      experience in the field of education, correct?

       10             A     That experience included teacher, assistant

       11      principal, principal, and other central office positions

       12      including another charter school.

       13             Q     And in your Table 3 you also included

       14      Franklintown Charter High School, didn't you?

       15                   MR. FENNICK:  Objection.  Asked and answered.

       16      All 118 charter schools in Pennsylvania are included.

       17                   MR. LITTS:  I'll sustain the objection.
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       18             Q     Are you familiar with the Lehigh Valley School

       19      for the Performing Arts in Northampton County, sir?

       20             A     No.

       21             Q     Is there a reason you didn't include it as a

       22      charter school in your analysis for today?

       23             A     Are they a listed charter school?  I would have

       24      include it in the 118.  Let me look at my list for a moment

       25      of all charters.
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        1             Q     Is this the list?  I may have it here.

        2             A     I believe you have it.  It was in that packet.

        3      It's enrollment of all charters.  I pulled that off a

        4      website for enrollment information only, but if it's on the

        5      list it's included in the salary analysis.

        6             Q     This doesn't say what website this came from.

        7             A     That's PDE website, searched under enrollment

        8      for charter schools, and the name was Lehigh Valley Charter

        9      School, correct, for the Performing Arts?

       10             Q     Yes.

       11             A     It's on here, so that means it's a qualified

       12      charter school.

       13             Q     Special Education.  You testified about the

       14      funding stream for Special Education students and I want to

       15      first deal with your experience as a business manager for

       16      public school districts since 1984.  It is not unusual for a

       17      school district to spend more on a Special Ed. student than

       18      what they receive funding for from the state.  Am I correct

       19      in that?

       20             A     The range of costs for Special Ed. students

       21      depend on the specific needs of that student, the -- and the

       22      amount of time they are served.  So, you have a very wide

       23      variety in terms of spending on Special Education students.
Page 47



29MR10A1

       24             Q     And it's not unusual for a school district to

       25      spend more on one Special Ed. student than what they'll
�
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        1      receive in funding.

        2             A     That's correct, based on the state funding

        3      formula for public schools.

        4             Q     And the same analysis holds true for charter

        5      schools, doesn't it?

        6             A     It would depend on the specific needs of the

        7      students identified in that charter school.

        8             Q     But the charter school funding for Special Ed.

        9      students is, I think as you testified, a constant.  It's an

       10      extra 12,000 per student, right?

       11             A     Yes, it is.  No, that depends on the school of

       12      residence.  The example I gave was just generic.  If the

       13      school district failed to complete the required form the

       14      state will deduct those amounts; 12,000 for a regular

       15      student, 24,000 for a Special Ed. student.

       16             Q     So, Pocono Mountain Charter School is going to

       17      receive a flat amount of dollars for each Special Ed.

       18      student.  That doesn't change if they spend more money on

       19      the student.  Am I right?

       20             A     That's correct.  It's based on what the school

       21      district is spending.  On average.

       22             Q     Why didn't you note that in your report?

       23             A     I noted the generic guideline simply to make

       24      the case that the charter school will loss money if the

       25      students are -- initially enter the school as a Special
�
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        1      Education student and then later are determined to no longer

        2      need those services.
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        3             Q     Well, that's not accurate; they may loss money,

        4      but they may not.

        5             A     (No response.)

        6             Q     I have one Special Ed. student that enrolls in

        7      the charter school.  The level of services required is going

        8      to cost the charter school $40,000.00 for one year.  Let's

        9      use the reimbursement rate that you put in your report of

       10      $12,000.00.  Is it your testimony, sir, that the charter

       11      school will lose money if it then declassifies the student?

       12             A     The charter school loses that revenue.  In the

       13      generic example, 12,000 more for the Special Education

       14      student.  The amount spent could be -- could range from

       15      relatively little for some issue such as physical therapy,

       16      speech therapy, gifted are also in that amount, the gifted

       17      program could be offered differently in a charter school,

       18      and it could be higher depending on the more severe

       19      disabilities.

       20             Q     But my point is, it's not necessarily that the

       21      school is losing money by decertifying?

       22             A     They're losing the revenue, yes, but the amount

       23      of expense cannot be estimated.  It would depend on the

       24      needs of that specific student, the services and the extent

       25      of those services that are being offered.
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        1             Q     And, I'm sorry, did you say that the charter

        2      school also had to provide services for gifted students?

        3             A     Normally in the -- in Pennsylvania the funding

        4      includes funding for all special students including --

        5      normally in the Pennsylvania law you have gifted included in

        6      these programs, in the Special Education programs.  So,

        7      charter schools can operate differently -- a different sort

        8      of a gifted program.  So, depending on how they offer that
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        9      or other services and the skills of their employees they may

       10      be able to provide those services at a different cost.

       11             Q     How much did you charge for the drafting of the

       12      report that's been identified as CS-21?

       13             A     It would be in the neighborhood of $1,000.00.

       14             Q     When you say in the neighborhood tell me how

       15      much you charged.

       16             A     I have not completed the invoicing of that

       17      because that's depending on the time at the hearing this

       18      morning.

       19             Q     But my question was for the drafting of the

       20      report.

       21             A     The report was approximately 8 hours of

       22      research.

       23             Q     How much do you charge for that?

       24             A     125 an hour.

       25             Q     And what are you charging with respect to your
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        1      testimony today?

        2             A     Same amount.

        3             Q     Is there a minimum hours that you're charging

        4      for today?

        5             A     No.

        6             Q     Is your district open for school today?

        7             A     This is a vacation day for me.

        8             Q     A personal day?

        9             A     Vacation.

       10                   MR. FENNICK:  Objection.  Relevance.

       11             A     Vacation day.

       12                   MR. LITTS:  Move on.

       13             Q     Are you familiar with IRS regulations for
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       14      establishment of not-for-profit salaries?

       15             A     No, I'm familiar with the charter school law in

       16      Pennsylvania.

       17             Q     So, when you were drafting your report for

       18      today you didn't address the Internal Revenue Code, Title

       19      26, Regulation 4941, dealing with self-dealing, did you?

       20             A     Correct, I did not.

       21             Q     You also didn't review the IRS regulations with

       22      respect to how not-for-profits should establish management

       23      salaries, correct?

       24             A     I was simply looking at the comparable salaries

       25      paid the 118 charters in Pennsylvania.
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        1             Q     So, you would agree with me.

        2             A     That's correct.

        3                   MS. SCHURDAK:  No further questions.

        4                   MR. LITTS:  Redirect.

        5                             - - -

        6      REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FENNICK:

        7             Q     Mr. Schoch, would you turn to Page 395 of the

        8      transcript?

        9             A     Yes.

       10             Q     And I want to direct you to the section that

       11      Attorney Schurdak referred you to and had you read.  In the

       12      section or in the lines immediately after the part that you

       13      read does it say what contract Pastor Bloom is asking about?

       14      I'm sorry, was talking about.

       15             A     Let me go back a couple lines to determine his

       16      answer.  "First of all, I didn't negotiate anything.  The

       17      board talks to them.  I don't negotiate, the board handles

       18      those things."  Then the question was "Okay.  Well, where do

       19      you see on the minutes any board action in terms of
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       20      discussing the LCD sign with the church?"

       21             Q     And his answer to that was?

       22             A     "I don't even see the sign here."

       23             Q     Okay.  The next question -- you can close that.

       24      I won't ask you anymore questions about that.  Now, you were

       25      asked some questions about the Gannett website that you
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        1      referenced.

        2             A     Yes.

        3             Q     Is that a source that you and others in your

        4      field regularly rely on to determine administrative

        5      salaries?

        6             A     We look at that; it's our best source of

        7      comparable salaries.  Those salaries are not available off

        8      the Department of Education website in a -- in any

        9      searchable fashion.  They are based on reports that all

       10      school districts and charter schools must send PDE, but it's

       11      not made available to us in a usable fashion.  So, we do

       12      refer to that; it's become pretty common, it's been out

       13      there for about three years now.

       14             Q     And I think -- I'm not sure, but I think you

       15      said in one of your answers that you verified the accuracy

       16      with someone at PDE?

       17             A     Yes.  I called -- I spoke with both the editor

       18      of the newspaper and I also spoke with the person at the

       19      Pennsylvania Department of Education concerning that.

       20             Q     All right.  And did they verify that they

       21      believed the data to be accurate?

       22             A     The editor said --

       23                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'll object.  This is now

       24      hearsay.
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       25                   MR. FENNICK:  But it's ....
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        1                   MR. LITTS:  Well, I'll allow it.  I don't know

        2      what relevance it really has.  I mean -- but, I'll allow it.

        3             Q     Go ahead, Mr. Schoch.

        4             A     The editor specifically said the source is PA

        5      Department of Education's annual salary survey of

        6      certificated educators and I also spoke to a person in Data

        7      Services at the Department of Education.

        8             Q     And did those people verify that the Gannett

        9      website is accurate?

       10             A     I also went and looked at selected salaries

       11      that I was well aware of to determine the accuracy of it,

       12      but when you look at that website you have names and

       13      salaries down to the dollar for 151,000 people sortable by

       14      school district and position type and everything else.  So,

       15      it would be highly unlikely that you would get the names and

       16      the salaries down to the dollar from anything but these

       17      sources.

       18             Q     Now, this is a housekeeping matter.  I don't

       19      know if I asked you this.  Does Exhibit 21, Charter School

       20      Exhibit 21, is that the report that you prepared in this

       21      case?

       22             A     Yes, it is.

       23                   (SCHOCH REPORT marked for identification as

       24      Charter School Exhibit No. 21.)

       25             Q     I think you actually need to leave that for the
�
                                Schoch - Redirect                     1524

        1      court reporter.  There was a question about adjustment

        2      factors for salaries and you mentioned that you used some

        3      adjustment factors that were determined by the Commonwealth.

        4      Please explain that.
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        5             A     In 2006 the legislature commissioned a major

        6      study of the adequacy of funding throughout all school

        7      districts in Pennsylvania.  Part of their methodology is to

        8      adjust things for regional cost differences.

        9             Q     And what data -- so, are you using the data

       10      that they have set forth?

       11             A     I simply made the point that I gave average

       12      salaries across the state and that those salaries should be

       13      adjusted according to adjusting factors for the higher cost

       14      of living areas in the eastern part of the state.

       15             Q     And your determination -- I just want to make

       16      sure that your determination that this is one of the higher

       17      cost of living areas is based on information provided by

       18      whom?

       19             A     The costing out study consultants that did that

       20      study.

       21             Q     There were questions about academic

       22      qualifications of superintendents and CAOs of charter

       23      schools.  Can we predict the success or failure of a charter

       24      school or a school district based on the academic

       25      qualifications of the CEO or superintendent?
�
                                Schoch - Redirect                     1525

        1                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Objection.  Outside the field

        2      of --

        3                   MR. LITTS:  Sustained.  I think the board has

        4      enough common sense to understand that that doesn't

        5      necessarily make someone successful.  So, let's move on.

        6             Q     Is it appropriate to -- if you're going to use

        7      any measures of success in salary is it -- based on your

        8      experience in negotiating contracts would it be important to

        9      look at the success of the school district in terms of
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       10      academic performance rather than academic degrees when

       11      factoring -- when making salary decisions?

       12             A     Many school districts in Pennsylvania and

       13      elsewhere are starting to adjust salaries based on the

       14      expectations of that community regarding student achievement

       15      and then base salary increases on the changes and

       16      improvements in student achievement.

       17             Q     So, a school district who is doing that would

       18      not be giving an increase to a superintendent whose students

       19      are experiencing a decline in student achievement.

       20                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Asked and answered.

       21                   MR. LITTS:  Let's move on.

       22                   MR. FENNICK:  That's all.

       23                             - - -

       24      BY MR. LITTS:

       25             Q     Mr. Schoch, I have some questions.  I believe
�
                                  Schoch - Litts                      1526

        1      in your direct testimony, and I may have misheard you and if

        2      I did just tell me that, but you said you were involved when

        3      you were employed by a school district in Lancaster the

        4      establishment of a cyber charter school.  Did I hear that

        5      correctly?

        6             A     Correct.  We did --

        7             Q     What's the name of the charter school?

        8             A     That charter school never started, but the

        9      application was approved under the name of Commonwealth

       10      Cyber Charter School.  We had --

       11             Q     That was approved by the school board?

       12             A     That's correct.  We --

       13             Q     That's all I needed, sir.  I'm looking at

       14      Charter School 21, so your report if you could refer to

       15      that, sir.  And, again, I just want confirmation if I'm
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       16      reading this correctly.  In Table 1 of the first page you

       17      simply took information that PSBA assembled and you put it

       18      in your report.  You didn't do any additional analysis

       19      or anything such as that, correct?

       20             A     Directly from PSBA Report Facts and Figures,

       21      2009.

       22             Q     And if you turn to the second page, if I heard

       23      your testimony correctly, Table 2 for the Montgomery County

       24      superintendent/business administrators salaries, that's what

       25      you pulled off the Gannett website.
�
                                  Schoch - Litts                      1527

        1             A     That's correct.

        2             Q     And then if you turn to the third page

        3      similarly with annual salaries of chief administrative

        4      officers, if I heard your testimony correctly, you simply

        5      ranked the 118 CAO salaries in order from highest to lowest

        6      in bands of roughly $25,000.00; is that correct?

        7             A     Correct.

        8             Q     And you didn't make any attempt to try to

        9      further break down these salaries on the size of the charter

       10      school or the location of the charter school.

       11             A     Or any -- that's correct.  Or any other

       12      factors.

       13             Q     And for purposes of your report, what did you

       14      presume Pastor Bloom's salary to be?

       15             A     What I found on the website; 120,000.

       16             Q     Did that include the travel allowance?

       17             A     No, it did not, it was -- unless that travel

       18      allowance was reported in the state information, which would

       19      be highly unlikely; they're asking for salary only.

       20             Q     And I think your responses here answer my
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       21      question, but I want to be clear.  In all three of these

       22      tables I just referred to you didn't use what -- I think you

       23      used the term adjustment factors to change these salaries.

       24             A     No, I did not; they are the exact salary.

       25                   MR. LITTS:  Do any of the board members have
�
                                Schoch - Bockelman                    1528

        1      questions for this witness?

        2                             - - -

        3      BY MR. BOCKELMAN:

        4             Q     I believe you stated that when you looked at

        5      Pastor Bloom's salary that 16 percent of the charter school

        6      salaries were higher and 14 percent were at level.  Is that

        7      correct?

        8             A     Yes.  I did the math looking directly at my

        9      charter and the 16 percent were the -- in the two salary

       10      ranges higher than that and I believe the -- let me just

       11      find my report that I looked at when I did the math.

       12                   So, nine above 150,000 and 10 between 125 and

       13      150, total of 19, which is 16 percent of 118, and then in

       14      the exact same salary range, 100 to 125, there were 14

       15      percent of the total of 118.

       16             Q     And then you also stated you didn't factor in

       17      the size of the schools when you looked at that.

       18             A     That's correct.

       19             Q     So, you don't think the size of the school is

       20      relevant then?

       21             A     The duties remain the same and depending on

       22      what the school has as its mission and all of the other

       23      specifics to that school the salary required is -- may vary

       24      depending on the situation.

       25             Q     Given that scenario and given the fact that
�
                                Schoch - Bockelman                    1529
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        1      70 percent of the salaries are less than his how do you come

        2      up with the thought that his salary is comparable?

        3             A     What I stated was I believe it's within range,

        4      that there are 30-some percent of the salaries in that range

        5      in charter schools throughout the state.

        6             Q     But 70 percent are less.

        7             A     That is correct.

        8             Q     The other thing that you said that I'm having

        9      difficulty understanding is you don't believe that the size

       10      of a district is a factor in determining the salaries that

       11      you pay your respective administrators.  In fact, you even

       12      said that perhaps the administrator of a smaller district is

       13      more qualified than the one in the bigger district because

       14      he doesn't have the support that the smaller districts would

       15      have.

       16             A     On a day-to-day basis they're required to do

       17      the full range of responsibilities in a smaller organization

       18      whereas in a larger organization you have specialists.  It's

       19      a different situation.  The fact is the salaries for these

       20      positions do not often reflect the size of the organization;

       21      there are many small districts with much higher salaries

       22      than some of the larger districts.

       23             Q     Following that logic, is it safe to say that

       24      you think that the business manager at Council Rock should

       25      get paid the same amount of money as a business manager of a
�
                                Schoch - Bockelman                    1530

        1      school district with 3200 students?  Because his staff is

        2      larger at Council Rock, he has more support, the reports are

        3      the same, and, therefore, the smaller business manager is

        4      more in tune because he doesn't have as much support and he

        5      may be even more qualified.  So, is that what you're trying
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        6      to tell us?

        7             A     No, I'm just stating the facts that there are

        8      variations of these salaries and higher salaries are paid by

        9      smaller organizations in many cases.  My point is simply

       10      that the range of responsibilities, the day-to-day duties,

       11      the fact that all of this data is audited, that remains the

       12      same whether it's a small charter school, a larger charter

       13      school, a small district or a larger district.

       14             Q     And, so, because the business manager of the

       15      larger district doesn't have as much hands-on work to do you

       16      would think he would be paid less?

       17             A     There isn't a relationship given the facts.

       18                   MR. BOCKELMAN:  Thank you.

       19                   MR. LITTS:  Any other questions from the board?

       20                             - - -

       21      BY MR. SMITH:

       22             Q     I didn't have a lot of time to read your

       23      report, but I did glance through it.  I didn't actually see

       24      Mr. Bloom's salary listed in the report.  Is it there?

       25             A     It is not.  It's 120,000 --
�
                                  Schoch - Smith                      1531

        1             Q     Don't you think it would have been important to

        2      put it in if we're asked to compare it to those various

        3      categories that you put in Table 3?

        4             A     Well, it is noted in other places in the

        5      transcript.

        6                   MR. LITTS:  Any other questions?  Any questions

        7      from counsel based on the board's questions?  If not, is

        8      there any reason why Mr. Schoch can't be use excused?

        9                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Not to my knowledge.

       10                   MR. LITTS:  Hearing none, Mr. Schoch, you are

       11      excused.  Thank you, sir.
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       12                   I notice it is right before 12:00.  So, why

       13      don't we take our lunch break and then counsel, if you could

       14      look at the exhibits that have been given this witness and

       15      verify that there's no objections we'll deal with the

       16      exhibits when we get back and we'll be back on the record

       17      at 1 o'clock.

       18                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I would move my exhibits into

       19      evidence.

       20                   MR. LITTS:  Well, why don't you talk with Dan

       21      and then we can put it on the record real quick.

       22                   (Recess from 11:57 p.m. to 1:03 p.m.)

       23                   MR. LITTS:  I have marked Exhibits C-20,

       24      Mr. Schoch's CV, C-21, Mr. Schoch's report.  Any objection

       25      to those admissions?  Hearing none C-20 and 21 will be
�
                                  Schoch - Smith                      1532

        1      admitted.

        2                   I next have School District 47, 48, 49 and

        3      that's Mr. Sever's contract, 47, and then job descriptions

        4      for the superintendent and business manager are 48 and 49.

        5      Any objections?

        6                   (SEVERS CONTRACT marked for identification as

        7      School District Exhibit No. 47.)

        8                   (SUPERINTENDENT CONTRACT marked for

        9      identification as School District Exhibit No. 48.)

       10                   (BUSINESS MANAGER CONTRACT marked for

       11      identification as School District Exhibit No. 49.)

       12                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Just for my notes, I'm sorry,

       13      Mr. Litts, I have the business manager as 48.  Do I have

       14      that backwards in my notes?

       15                   MR. LITTS:  The copy that you gave me, I have

       16      the district superintendent listed as 48 -- hold on.  Yes,
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       17      superintendent and then the copy you gave me as SD-49 is the

       18      business manager.

       19                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Thank you.

       20                   MR. LITTS:  Any objections to those coming in?

       21                   MR. FENNICK:  No.

       22                   MR. LITTS:  Hearing none, they are admitted.

       23      I believe that's all the exhibits that we have.  Is there

       24      anything I'm missing?  Mr. Fennick, you mentioned the

       25      August 21st letter, but -- and I think you initially marked
�
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        1      it, but you made another 21, so I don't know if you want

        2      that in or not.  If so, we can talk about it at another

        3      break.

        4                   MR. FENNICK:  Okay.

        5                   MR. LITTS:  But, if not, let's have our next

        6      witness.

        7                   MR. FENNICK:  We'll call Helena

        8      Schneider-Sable.

        9                              - - -

       10                   HELENA R. SCHNEIDER-SABLE, having been duly

       11      sworn according to law, testified as follows:

       12      DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FENNICK:

       13             Q     Can you give us your name and business address,

       14      please?

       15             A     Helena R. Schneider-Sable, 16 Carriage Square,

       16      Tobyhanna, Pennsylvania.

       17             Q     You might need to slow down.  And what do you

       18      do for a living?

       19             A     I teach Special Ed. at Pocono Mountain Charter

       20      School.

       21             Q     Tell the board what your degrees and

       22      certifications are.
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       23             A     I hold two Bachelor's degrees from Misericordia

       24      University; one in Special Education and the other in

       25      Elementary Education with a minor in History.  I also have
�
                                 Schneider-Sable                      1534

        1      completed all 30 credits toward my Masters degree at

        2      Marywood University in Administration and Supervision of

        3      Special Education Programs.

        4             Q     Now, I want to ask you specifically about some

        5      of the Special Education students who have been discussed

        6      here.  Are you aware of the numbers that we have assigned to

        7      those students?

        8             A     Yes, Attorney Fennick.

        9             Q     How long have you been employed at the charter

       10      school?

       11             A     I have been employed at the charter school

       12      since September of 2005.

       13             Q     And have you had the same position since you

       14      arrived there?

       15             A     Yes.

       16             Q     Let me ask you about Student No. 1.  All right?

       17      Do you know who I'm talking about?

       18             A     Mm-hmm.

       19             Q     Have you reviewed the file for Student No. 1?

       20             A     Yes.

       21             Q     Do you remember when that student arrived at

       22      the charter school?

       23             A     The student arrived sometime in the 2005-2006

       24      school year.

       25             Q     And was the student classified as a Special
�
                                 Schneider-Sable                      1535

        1      Education student upon arrival at the charter school?
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        2             A     Yes, they were.

        3             Q     Did the charter school do an evaluation of her?

        4             A     Yes.

        5             Q     How many evaluations did the charter school

        6      ultimately do of the student?

        7             A     The charter school completed two evaluations of

        8      this student.

        9             Q     And if -- was psychological testing done as

       10      part of those evaluations?

       11             A     Yes.

       12             Q     Who did that testing?

       13             A     Dr. Janine Wargo, our school psychologist at

       14      the time.

       15             Q     Can you give the dates of the two different

       16      evaluations?

       17             A     Not off the top of my head.

       18             Q     Do you know when the student withdrew from the

       19      school?

       20             A     November of 2008 to the best of my knowledge.

       21             Q     It might have been '07, but we'll check.

       22      All right.  At a certain point in time after the second

       23      evaluation did the team meet to discuss whether the student

       24      continued to be eligible for Special Education?

       25             A     Yes.
�
                                 Schneider-Sable                      1536

        1             Q     And were either of the students' parents

        2      present at the meeting?

        3             A     Yeah, the student's mother attended the

        4      meeting.

        5             Q     Were you present at the meeting?

        6             A     Yes.

        7             Q     And did the team reach an agreement about the
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        8      student's continued status as a Special Education student?

        9             A     Yes.

       10             Q     What was that agreement?

       11             A     We came to the agreement that she no longer met

       12      the qualification as a student with a disability.

       13             Q     Did the mother agree?

       14             A     Yes.

       15             Q     Now, Miss Schurdak has raised the issue

       16      regarding dates on the NOREP, that there is a date on the

       17      NOREP which she asserts may be inconsistent with respect the

       18      date of the meeting.  Can you explain what system the

       19      charter school uses for dating NOREPs?

       20             A     When we issue NOREPs to parents they have 10

       21      calendar days to respond.  So, we put the date on the NOREP

       22      10 days from the meeting held.  However, the parents do have

       23      the option of signing the NOREP at the meeting.

       24             Q     And why do you do it that way?

       25             A     Because the parents are guaranteed 10 calendar
�
                                 Schneider-Sable                      1537

        1      days to make a decision and get back to the district.

        2             Q     Is this a way of advising the parents what

        3      their deadline is?

        4             A     Yes.

        5             Q     And did the parents, in fact, or the mother,

        6      at least, sign the NOREP with regard to this student?

        7             A     Yes, the mother requested to sign the NOREP at

        8      the meeting.

        9             Q     Now, was the student getting Special Education

       10      services from the time the student entered the Pocono

       11      Mountain Charter School until the student was no longer

       12      eligible for Special Education services?
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       13             A     Yes, the student was receiving services.

       14             Q     And I have a note here that the meeting was

       15      '07, October 25th of '07, not '08.  Will you accept that?

       16             A     Yes.

       17             Q     Do you remember if Janine Wargo was at that

       18      meeting?

       19             A     Yes, she was.  She attends all meetings.

       20             Q     Now, I want to move to Student No. 4.  This is

       21      the student who was only in the charter school for a couple

       22      of months.

       23             A     Okay.

       24             Q     Now, you already told us from your dates of

       25      employment that you were employed at the charter school at
�
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        1      the time this student was there.  Do you remember this

        2      student?

        3             A     Not particularly, no.

        4             Q     And would you have been teaching the grades

        5      that this student was in?

        6             A     No.

        7             Q     What is the policy of the charter school with

        8      regard to getting Special Education records for students who

        9      register and indicate that they are receiving Special

       10      Education services?

       11             A     We contact their sending school and request

       12      their full Special Education records.

       13             Q     In this case can you tell us the date that the

       14      student actually enrolled in the Pocono Mountain Charter

       15      School?

       16             A     The student enrolled on April 9th, 2008.

       17             Q     Was the charter school aware that the student

       18      was going to be enrolled before the actual enrollment date?
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       19             A     Yes.

       20             Q     And was a request -- I'm sorry, I think I asked

       21      you already.  When was the request for the student's records

       22      sent to --

       23             A     The request was sent March 25th of 2008.

       24             Q     And how do you know that?

       25             A     We have releases that we sent to the sending
�
                                 Schneider-Sable                      1539

        1      school as a request for their records.

        2             Q     Now, we also talked about Student No. 22.  Do

        3      you remember who that is?

        4             A     Yes, I do.

        5             Q     And Miss Thorne or -- I can't remember if

        6      Miss Thorne or Miss Kelly testified regarding a records

        7      receipt that was given to a bus driver.  Do you remember

        8      that testimony?

        9             A     Yes.

       10             Q     Who actually prepared that document?

       11             A     I prepared the receipt at Ms. Thorne's request.

       12             Q     Okay.

       13                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'm sorry, what document?

       14                   MR. FENNICK:  The -- it's the receipt that the

       15      bus driver signed for ....

       16                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Is that in evidence?

       17                   MR. FENNICK:  I believe it is, but I will have

       18      to check to be sure of the number.  Do you want me to wait?

       19                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I just want to make sure I'm on

       20      the -- is this No. 17?  Charter School 17, is that what

       21      you're referring to?

       22                   MR. FENNICK:  Yes.  We are talking about

       23      Charter School Exhibit No. 17.
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       24             Q     Now, just, perhaps, to shortcut some cross

       25      examination, did you see the package of records being given
�
                                 Schneider-Sable                      1540

        1      to the driver?

        2             A     No, I did not.

        3             Q     With regard to Student No. 22, you heard Miss

        4      Thorne and Miss Kelly talk about their involvement.  Did you

        5      have involvement with these parents at the time the student

        6      was first entering the charter school?

        7             A     Not initially, no.

        8             Q     Tell us when you became involved.

        9             A     In approximately the end of October Ms. Thorne

       10      requested me to draft a letter to Kevin Aul regarding the

       11      issue and once the packet of information was completed that

       12      ended my involvement until the draft of the plan.

       13             Q     The 504 plan?

       14             A     Exactly.

       15             Q     And what did you do when the plan was drafted?

       16             A     I drafted it and forwarded the draft to Miss

       17      Thorne.

       18             Q     What happened next with regard to your

       19      involvement?

       20             A     I was not involved again until the middle of

       21      January when a meeting was scheduled with the parents.

       22             Q     Did you schedule that meeting or did someone

       23      else?

       24             A     I did.

       25             Q     Tell us what efforts you had to make to get the
�
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        1      parents to agree to a meeting?

        2             A     Multiple letters home, multiple phone calls

        3      home, they called me at night on my cell phone.
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        4             Q     How did they get your cell phone number?

        5             A     I gave it to them due to their work and college

        6      schedules to make it more accessible to reach me.

        7             Q     So, in January can you give us an approximation

        8      of how many times a week you had contact with them?

        9             A     At least daily.

       10             Q     And was it easy to set up a meeting with them?

       11             A     No.  Due to their work and school schedules

       12      they were just simply too busy to come in and requested the

       13      paperwork be sent home to them.

       14             Q     Despite their requests was there a time that

       15      they actually agreed to come in for a meeting?

       16             A     Yes.

       17             Q     And did they show up for the meeting?

       18             A     No.

       19             Q     So, do you remember the date that that was

       20      scheduled for?

       21             A     Not really.  It was the week of January 15th

       22      through 19th.

       23             Q     So, what did you do after they didn't show up

       24      for the meeting?

       25             A     After they didn't show up for the meeting I did
�
                                 Schneider-Sable                      1542

        1      contact the mother and she requested that the paperwork be

        2      sent home.  The paperwork was sent home and she called me

        3      that night to let me know that she had received it and

        4      subsequently called me later that week when I had called her

        5      to ask where it was.  She said she had misplaced it in her

        6      home.

        7                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'll object to the hearsay

        8      testimony.  I suspect my objection will be overruled, but I
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        9      still want it noted for the record.

       10                   MR. LITTS:  It's noted and it's overruled.

       11             A     The mother contacted me to let me show that she

       12      had signed it, signed it, and misplaced it in her home and

       13      she would send it back as soon as she found it.  She did

       14      locate it and sent it back later the following week.

       15             Q     And that's how the 504 plan got to be signed

       16      the third way week of January?

       17             A     Yes.

       18             Q     Are you aware of any educational -- psycho-

       19      educational testing being done by individuals other than

       20      Janine Wargo during the time that you've been at the charter

       21      school?

       22             A     No.

       23                   MR. FENNICK:  Cross examine.

       24                             - - -

       25      CROSS EXAMINATION BY MS. SCHURDAK:
�
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        1             Q     Good afternoon, Miss Schneider.  Is it fair for

        2      me to say that your first full-time teaching position was at

        3      the charter school?

        4             A     Yes.

        5             Q     And when you arrived at the charter school

        6      there wasn't any Director of Special Ed. for you to turn to

        7      for guidance, was there?

        8             A     No.

        9             Q     And, in fact, there really wasn't anyone as a

       10      supervisor who specializes in Special Ed. at the charter

       11      school until Miss Thorne took the position roughly in the

       12      Fall of 2008; is that correct?

       13             A     The principal has always been the supervisor of

       14      Special Education.
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       15             Q     And who is that principal?

       16             A     Principal John Severs.

       17             Q     Are you familiar with Mr. Severs' background?

       18             A     Not personally, no.

       19             Q     So, Mr. Severs is the individual that you would

       20      turn to if you had questions regarding Special Ed.

       21             A     Yes, until Ms. Thorne was employed by the

       22      school.

       23             Q     Do you know if Mr. Severs has any

       24      certifications in the field of Special Ed.?

       25             A     Not directly, no.
�
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        1             Q     Just to be clear, no, he doesn't have any

        2      certifications or, no, you don't know?

        3             A     I do not directly know.

        4             Q     Tell me what you mean by that.

        5             A     Having spoken with Mr. Severs I do know he does

        6      have a background in Special Education.  Have I seen his

        7      certification?  No.

        8             Q     Has he ever told you he's been certified?

        9             A     No.

       10             Q     Did he ever discuss with you having worked at a

       11      prior charter school?

       12             A     Yes.

       13             Q     Did he ever discuss with you that that charter

       14      school was -- the charter was revoked?

       15                   MR. FENNICK:  Objection.  It's beyond the scope

       16      of direct.

       17                   MR. LITTS:  Sustained.

       18             Q     With respect to Student No. 1, Attorney Fennick

       19      was asking you some questions regarding the evaluation
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       20      process.

       21             A     Yes.

       22             Q     And you said that there were two evaluations?

       23             A     Correct.

       24             Q     And just so I'm clear, at both evaluations you

       25      were present.
�
                             Schneider-Sable - Cross                  1545

        1             A     Yes.

        2             Q     And Dr. Wargo was present.

        3             A     Yes.

        4             Q     Ms. Schneider, I ask that you continue to use

        5      Student No. 1.  I'm going to represent to you, and I have

        6      shown your attorney, where I've placed two Post-its in

        7      the -- No. 1, relates to Student No. 1, and who participated

        8      in the reevaluation for this student.  The first one goes

        9      back to the Fall of '07 and you can page through it if you

       10      don't trust my characterization.  No where in the evaluation

       11      team participants catalog of names is Dr. Wargo, the

       12      psychologist, mentioned, correct?

       13             A     Correct.

       14             Q     Everyone else who was present signed it; is

       15      that correct?

       16             A     Correct.

       17             Q     Same question where this Post-it is.

       18                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm sorry, did she answer your

       19      question?

       20                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Yes.

       21             Q     And, again, this now relates back to a re-eval

       22      from '06, date of report, I believe, is March of 2006, and

       23      if you could look at the evaluation team participants no

       24      where is it indicated that Dr. Wargo was present, correct?

       25             A     Correct.
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        1                   MR. LITTS:  What student number?

        2                   MS. SCHURDAK:  No. 1.

        3             Q     With respect to the NOREP signature of the

        4      parent for Student No. 1 the issue that had been raised to

        5      Mr. Severs was that the parent had dated it and signed it

        6      prior to the meeting.  Are you aware of that?

        7                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm not aware of that.  Maybe you

        8      should show her the document.

        9                   MS. SCHURDAK:  It's a Joint exhibit.  As well

       10      as -- I want to correlate it to an exhibit already into

       11      evidence.

       12             Q     Now, Ms. Schneider, showing you for Student

       13      No. 1 the Notice of Recommended Educational Placement and

       14      the date on this document is 11-17-2007, correct?

       15             A     Correct.

       16             Q     And if you can turn to the signature page for

       17      the parent and tell me the date that is noted by the

       18      parent's signature.

       19             A     11-5-07.

       20             Q     Thank you.

       21             A     Which was the date of the meeting.

       22             Q     With respect to Student No. 4, were you present

       23      when earlier in the hearings there were representations made

       24      that Student No. 4 didn't attend the charter school during

       25      those hearings?
�
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        1                   MR. FENNICK:  Well, I need to jump in because

        2      that may -- I'm not saying it's intentional -- may be

        3      misleading the witness because she had also asked was she

        4      present when -- she corrected that and indicated the dates
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        5      that the student actually did attend.

        6                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I think it's fair game whether

        7      or not the charter school even knows whether or not students

        8      are enrolled in a school.  There was a lot said and I can

        9      pull out testimony of "This student never went there and

       10      they're making an issue out of this student who was never

       11      enrolled in our charter school."

       12                   MR. LITTS:  Well, hearing both of you -- I

       13      didn't necessarily hear the word objection.  I think it's

       14      appropriate to ask questions about Student No. 4.  If you --

       15      you can ask the witness questions and she can do the best

       16      she can to answer them and if you feel the question is

       17      unfair, Mr. Fennick, you can make an objection.  If it's

       18      appropriate or -- to try to correct any misunderstandings

       19      that you believe occurred on redirect.

       20                   MR. FENNICK:  Well, I'm sorry, I just broke in

       21      because I just didn't want the witness to think that the

       22      charter school maintained until today that the student was

       23      not a student at the charter school.

       24                   MR. LITTS:  Well, again, let Miss Schurdak ask

       25      her questions and we'll proceed.
�
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        1             Q     You were present in the hearing room on

        2      February 1st, weren't you?

        3             A     Yes.

        4             Q     And you were also present on February 2nd,

        5      weren't you?

        6             A     Yes.

        7             Q     Isn't it true on February 1st, 2010, the

        8      charter school's position was that Student No. 4 never

        9      enrolled and attended the charter school?

       10             A     Yes.
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       11             Q     Have you ever placed a call to Dr. Gustafson?

       12             A     No.

       13             Q     You were the Special Ed. team leader.

       14             A     Yes.

       15             Q     Are you still the team leader?

       16             A     Yes.

       17             Q     What is your understanding of your duties as

       18      team leader?

       19             A     My duties are to make sure that deadlines are

       20      met.  I also coordinate passing along the Permissions to

       21      Evaluate, teacher and parent input to the school

       22      psychologist.  I also make sure that she is scheduled when

       23      we need to utilize her services as well as our speech

       24      therapists and occupational therapist services.

       25             Q     Who else is within the Special Ed. department
�
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        1      besides yourself?

        2             A     Two other teachers.

        3             Q     And their names?

        4             A     Christine Conaboy and Lindsey Volgrath.

        5             Q     And have they taught since 2005?

        6             A     No.

        7             Q     When did they, each of them, start their --

        8      roughly, their employ?

        9             A     Christine started September of 2008 and LIndsey

       10      started January of 2009.

       11             Q     So, in terms of Special Ed. you were, in

       12      essence, it from 2005 through the fall term of 2008 when

       13      another teacher was hired.

       14             A     There were other teachers throughout the past

       15      years.
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       16             Q     Certified in Special Ed.?

       17             A     Yes.

       18                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm going to object and -- well,

       19      I guess you answered it.  Don't say things unless you know.

       20             Q     Were you aware that an issue had arisen with

       21      respect to Student No. 22 and bus transportation?

       22                   MR. FENNICK:  I need a time frame for the

       23      question.

       24             Q     Well, when did you first become aware?

       25             A     October of 2009.
�
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        1             Q     And when was the 504 plan drafted?

        2             A     The second week of December.

        3             Q     When did the charter school implement the 504

        4      plan?

        5                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm going to object to the

        6      question as requiring a legal conclusion.  We all know,

        7      everyone in this room, that the actual aide is being

        8      provided by the Pocono Mountain School District.  So, I'm

        9      not sure what she means when she says, "When did the charter

       10      school implement ...."

       11                   MS. SCHURDAK:  That's the answer.  They didn't.

       12                   MR. FENNICK:  No, that --

       13                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Thank you, Mr. Fennick.  We'll

       14      stipulate to that.

       15                   MR. FENNICK:  No, we will stipulate to the

       16      facts.

       17                   MR. LITTS:  Hold up, hold up, hold up.  Mr.

       18      Fennick, please.  I mean, Counsel, come on, let's ratchet

       19      down the rhetoric.  There's an objection.  I'll overrule the

       20      objection.  The witness can answer the question.

       21                   Ma'am, do you know when the 504 plan for
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       22      Student 22 was implemented?

       23             A     No.

       24                   MR. LITTS:  Move on.

       25             Q     Are you aware that the 504 plan -- strike that.
�
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        1      Do you know if the 504 plan has ever been supplied to anyone

        2      at Pocono Mountain School District?

        3             A     I do not know.

        4             Q     Are you aware that the parents of Child No. 22

        5      started to request assistance for their child in September

        6      of 2009?

        7             A     No.

        8             Q     You're not aware of that?

        9             A     No.

       10                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I have no further questions.

       11                   MR. FENNICK:  I have some redirect.

       12                             - - -

       13      REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FENNICK:

       14             Q     Ms. Schneider Sable, I'm going to ask you to --

       15      I'll use a different word other than charter school

       16      implement.  Do you know whether this student was getting the

       17      services that were requested before the 504 was plan was

       18      signed?

       19             A     Yes.

       20             Q     And do you know whether those services were

       21      provided by the Pocono Mountain School District?

       22             A     Yes.

       23             Q     And would you expect the charter school to

       24      duplicate those services?

       25             A     Not if they were already being provided.
�
                            Schneider-Sable - Redirect                1552
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        1                   (Off record discussion.)

        2             Q     Ms. Schneider-Sable, I'm showing you what

        3      appears to be an invitation to participate in the IEP team

        4      meeting dated October 25th, 2007, for Student No. 1.  Do you

        5      see that?

        6             A     Yes.

        7             Q     And is that, in fact, what it is?

        8             A     Yes.

        9             Q     Does this indicate the date that the meeting

       10      was going to be held?

       11             A     Yes.  November 5th, 2007.

       12             Q     And that is the date that appears on the NOREP

       13      that the mother signed.

       14             A     Correct.

       15             Q     Now, I'm showing you a -- let's see.  Signature

       16      page from an evaluation review --

       17                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Which one are you showing her?

       18             Q     -- dated October 25th, '07.  Now, you've

       19      testified that Ms. Wargo was present when this review was

       20      prepared.  Does this page bear her signature?

       21             A     Yes.

       22             Q     Now, Miss Schurdak, I think, showed you

       23      something from earlier in October.  Were there -- does this

       24      establish that Ms. Wargo was present at this -- when this

       25      report was prepared?
�
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        1             A     Yes, it does.

        2             Q     Okay.  There's also -- there was a question

        3      about whether she was present at a meeting in March of '06

        4      regarding this same student and I'm showing you the IEP team

        5      signature page.  Is that the IEP team signature page for

        6      Student No. 1?
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        7             A     Yes, it is.

        8             Q     And does this bear Janine Wargo's signature?

        9             A     Yes, it does.

       10                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Leave that out, please.

       11                   MR. FENNICK:  Sure.  That's all.

       12                             - - -

       13      RECROSS EXAMINATION BY MS. SCHURDAK:

       14             Q     The last document Attorney Fennick showed you

       15      and asked you questions about who was attending the IEP

       16      meeting and this is the document, okay?

       17             A     Yes.

       18             Q     Where in this document does it contain a date?

       19             A     It does not.

       20                   MR. FENNICK:  Well, she's --

       21             A     On that page.

       22                   MR. FENNICK:  You can look through the

       23      document.

       24                   MR. LITTS:  Mr. Fennick, just let her ask her

       25      questions.
�
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        1             Q     Now, I had -- and Attorney Fennick also asked

        2      you questions and had you look ... it's easier if I use my

        3      document.

        4                   MS. SCHURDAK:  It's the one I used before, Dan.

        5             Q     For Student No. 1, this is the reevaluation

        6      report, correct?

        7             A     Mm-hmm.

        8                   MR. FENNICK:  See, that's dated October 7th.

        9                   MS. SCHURDAK:  This is the reevaluation report.

       10             Q     We're flipping the pages and I'm going to ask

       11      you again, on the signature page of who participated in the
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       12      reevaluation for Student No. 1, Dr. Wargo is not listed,

       13      is she?

       14                   MR. FENNICK:  And I'll object -- I'm sorry.

       15      The witness is being shown is a series of pages in a book

       16      which Attorney Schurdak sincerely believes are all the pages

       17      from that report and I'm not disputing that at all.  But,

       18      there's no foundation for her question that this is the

       19      report and does this signature -- does this report contain

       20      the signature.

       21                   MR. LITTS:  Well, I'm assuming counsel has

       22      exchanged Special Education records and did that in good

       23      faith, so I will assume that both sides would have a

       24      complete set of records for Student No. 1.

       25                   I will note for the record that as much as you
�
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        1      guys find this area of inquiry fascinating, we don't have

        2      any exhibits in front of us and what relevance you're

        3      putting into whether this document is dated or signed is

        4      probably going to be lost because you guys haven't made an

        5      exhibit out of it.  But, with that, you both will have the

        6      opportunity, since you've just represented to me you have

        7      the same exact exhibits, to show this witness an exhibit and

        8      ask questions about it and I'm hoping that you guys are

        9      trying to be careful and conscientious and not

       10      misrepresenting what's in the document and what's not in the

       11      document and then if opposing counsel wants to ask some

       12      clarification on something, that's fine, we can do that.

       13      But, I'm suggesting that you guys move on because you're not

       14      scoring any major league points here with this line of

       15      questioning.

       16                   MS. SCHURDAK:  For the record, Mr. Litts, I,

       17      after reaching a stipulation that was adopted as an order of
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       18      court in the Court of Common Pleas, released educational

       19      records to Mr. Fennick.  I have not received any educational

       20      records from him and part of my concern, quite frankly, is

       21      that he's showing witnesses one page out of a series of

       22      educational records and I don't know if I have that or not

       23      in my possession.

       24                   MR. LITTS:  And that's why I said if you guys

       25      want to ask questions about Student No. 1 -- quite frankly,
�
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        1      I would ask them differently and simply ask "All right.  Did

        2      we have a meeting on this date?  Who was at it?  Where is

        3      the document evidencing their appearance at the meeting,"

        4      but --

        5                   MR. FENNICK:  I did that.

        6                   MR. LITTS:  Actually, I'll bite my tongue.

        7      You guys can ask the questions.

        8                   MR. FENNICK:  The cross examination tried to

        9      establish that she was wrong when she said Dr. Wargo was at

       10      the meeting.

       11                   MR. LITTS:  I've ruled.  You guys can ask

       12      questions and let's move on.  Any other questions about

       13      Student 1's records?

       14                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I don't believe I do.  That's

       15      it.

       16                   MR. LITTS:  Mr. Fennick, any redirect?

       17                   MR. FENNICK:  No.

       18                   MR. LITTS:  Okay.  I do have a couple of

       19      questions for the witness.

       20                             - - -

       21      BY MR. LITTS:

       22             Q     Ma'am, do you teach a particular grade level at
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       23      the charter school?

       24             A     Generally 7th through 12th grade Learning

       25      Support.
�
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        1             Q     And has that been consistent throughout the

        2      entirety of your employment or have you worked at different

        3      grades levels in the past?

        4             A     Mainly 7th through 12th.  There have been a few

        5      situations where I have had students who are below 7th

        6      grade.

        7             Q     You mentioned, and I'm hoping I'm saying the

        8      name correctly -- is it Jean Wargo?

        9             A     Janine Wargo.

       10             Q     Thank you.  Is she still working at the charter

       11      school?

       12             A     She left us as of January 1st of this year.

       13             Q     And she was employed in what capacity when she

       14      worked there?

       15             A     She was a privately contracted school

       16      psychologist.

       17             Q     You say privately contracted.  Was she an

       18      employee or was she someone that was --

       19             A     She was retained on a contract.

       20             Q     And she was under contract when you started?

       21             A     Yes.

       22             Q     And then she was under contract to the end date

       23      you just identified.

       24             A     Correct.

       25                   MR. LITTS:  Do the board members have any other
�
                            Schneider-Sable - Recross                 1558

        1      questions?  Thank you, ma'am.  Are there any other questions

        2      for this witness?
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        3                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Nothing.

        4                   MR. FENNICK:  I don't want you to feel that

        5      anything was not represented correctly.  My understanding of

        6      Ms. Wargo is that she originally was doing evaluations under

        7      contract with the IU and we can clarify that with her, but I

        8      don't want you to ....

        9                   MR. LITTS:  I asked questions to clarify facts,

       10      I want to understand facts.  I get frustrated with counsel

       11      sometimes because you guys think we're so deep into it and

       12      you know the facts better than us that -- it comes out

       13      clearly and sometimes it doesn't.  So, that's the only

       14      reason I ask.  So, unless there are any other questions

       15      for this witness can she be excused.

       16                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I guess I didn't understand

       17      Dan's comment.

       18                   MR. LITTS:  And it's not relevant, so --

       19                   MS. SCHURDAK:  She was not employed through the

       20      IU.  Dr. Wargo.

       21                   MR. LITTS:  Are there any other questions for

       22      this witness?  Hearing none, ma'am, you're excused.  Thank

       23      you.

       24                   THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

       25                   MR. FENNICK:  We'll call John Severs.
�
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        1                              - - -

        2                   JOHN SEVERS, having been duly sworn according

        3      to law, testified as follows:

        4      DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FENNICK:

        5             Q     Would you give us your name and your business

        6      address, please?

        7             A     John Severs, 16 Carriage Square, Tobyhanna.
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        8             Q     What is your occupation?

        9             A     Principal, Pocono Mountain Charter School.

       10             Q     And how long have you been the principal?

       11             A     February 2006 to the present.

       12             Q     How long have you been in the education

       13      profession?

       14             A     1969.

       15             Q     Give the board just a very brief survey of what

       16      you've done and where you've been.

       17             A     I've taught from Grades 5 through 12, plus a

       18      year at -- semester at college.  I have been an

       19      administrator part-time for two years and since 1987 I've

       20      been a full-time administrator.  I retired from New Jersey

       21      in 2001 to take on other types of work in charter schools in

       22      New Jersey and Pennsylvania.

       23             Q     What school districts did you work for in New

       24      Jersey?

       25             A     As a administrator I began at Pinelands
�
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        1      Regional High School.  As a part-time adult education I

        2      moved to Pleasantville School District.  I went from

        3      Pleasantville to the City of Orange.  From Orange to

        4      Alexandria Township to Keyport.  I went from Keyport to

        5      Metuchen and at that point I retired.

        6             Q     And then you came out of retirement?

        7             A     Yes.

        8             Q     And was that in 2002?

        9             A     2000 ... yes.

       10             Q     And what was the first place you worked after

       11      returning from retirement?

       12             A     I worked at Family Alliance Charter School in

       13      Burlington, New Jersey, as the CAO.
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       14             Q     How long did you work there?

       15             A     Three weeks.

       16             Q     And why?  What happened at the end of three

       17      weeks?

       18             A     I asked the county office of education to do a

       19      financial audit of the school and recommended that the

       20      school be closed.

       21             Q     And was that because of something you

       22      discovered when you started working there?

       23             A     What I discovered -- everything that I

       24      discovered when I worked there; financially, academically,

       25      records, everything.
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        1             Q     And then you went to Einstein Academy.

        2             A     Yes.

        3             Q     And I'm sure you'll be asked, so that's why I'm

        4      asking you these questions.  How long were you at Einstein?

        5             A     I was at Einstein from October to the following

        6      April when they bought out my contract.

        7             Q     Was that October of 2002?

        8             A     Yes.

        9             Q     And what was your role at Einstein?

       10             A     I was the CAO.

       11             Q     And did you -- Einstein was closed at some

       12      point; is that right?

       13             A     Years later it was closed.  They went through

       14      the courts, but they bought out my contract because I turned

       15      them in to the Morrisville School District.

       16                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I would object to that

       17      conclusion.

       18                   MR. FENNICK:  Come on.
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       19                   MR. LITTS:  Well, that's fine.  Your objection

       20      is noted and it's overruled.

       21             Q     So, you turned them in to whom for what?

       22             A     In December of 2002 they received a payment

       23      from the state of $880,000.00 plus.  They spent the money on

       24      the owners of the school, their business.  I had asked for

       25      money for Special Education.  They wouldn't provide it, so I
�
                                 Severs - Direct                      1562

        1      told John Gould, Dr. John Gould, the superintendent of

        2      Morrisville, that they're not funding Special Education.

        3             Q     Okay.  So, in either case, Einstein Academy or

        4      Family Alliance Charter School, did the closing of those

        5      schools have anything to do with your malfeasance?

        6                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Objection.

        7             A     No.

        8                   MS. SCHURDAK:  This is --

        9                   MR. FENNICK:  Well --

       10                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Put the decision in.

       11                   MR. LITTS:  Hold on.  I don't know why -- I can

       12      understand that giving the flavor of Mr. Sever's background

       13      is relevant so the board knows where he's coming from.  I

       14      don't think we need to get to this level of detail, but --

       15                   MR. FENNICK:  I apologize.  Since Ms. Schurdak

       16      was attempting to impeach Mr. Severs on this issue through a

       17      different witness, Ms. Sable about 15 minutes ago, I thought

       18      I would bring it up and save her the trouble.

       19                   MR. LITTS:  Well, then, ask direct questions

       20      that aren't leading.  Let's keep going.

       21             Q     Okay.  Now, after Einstein you went to Creative

       22      Achievement Charter School?

       23             A     Creative Achievement is an academy in southern

       24      New Jersey, Vineland.
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       25             Q     And you were there from 2003 to 2006?
�
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        1             A     Yes.

        2             Q     And from there to the Pocono Mountain Charter

        3      School?

        4             A     Yes.

        5             Q     And what certifications do you hold?

        6             A     In New Jersey I hold an administrator's --

        7      school business administrators, principals, various teacher

        8      certificates, and in Pennsylvania, superintendent,

        9      elementary, secondary principal, math supervisor, various

       10      teaching certificates.  In New York State, district

       11      supervisor as well as business -- as well as a building

       12      supervisor.

       13             Q     Now, I want to move on to some of the

       14      substantive issues.  In the May 21st, 2008 revocation

       15      resolution there is a claim that the charter school did not

       16      have a crisis plan.  I wanted to ask you --

       17                   MR. LITTS:  Mr. Fennick, I thought we had a

       18      discussion earlier today that this was grounds that the

       19      school district administration was no longer proceeding and

       20      you wanted that in the record.  Is my recollection correct?

       21                   MS. SCHURDAK:  That's correct.  I put that on

       22      the record in February.

       23                   MR. LITTS:  Well, if I hear an agreement from

       24      the attorneys do we need to go down this road?

       25                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I don't see why.  February 1st I
�
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        1      agreed that we're -- the administration is not proceeding

        2      with this as a basis of revocation.

        3                   MR. LITTS:  Why don't we do this, Mr. Fennick?
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        4      Instead of going down a line of testimony that may not be

        5      necessary, you had given me previously on August 11, 2007,

        6      a letter addressed to myself and yourself, Mr. Fennick, from

        7      Ms. Schurdak noting that Charge 21 was being addressed.  Do

        8      you want that letter in?  I don't see why we have to hear

        9      testimony about something that's no longer at issue.

       10                   MR. FENNICK:  No, we don't need -- I just

       11      wanted to make sure --

       12                   MR. LITTS:  Let's move on.  Thanks.

       13             Q     All right.  Now, I want to talk to you about

       14      some testimony that was elicited regarding the renewal of

       15      the charter in 2006.  During the summer of 2006 were you

       16      present at any meetings between the administrators of the

       17      charter school and the administrators of the school

       18      district?

       19             A     Yes.  One, in particular.

       20             Q     Was that -- that was the summer of 2006?

       21             A     Yes.

       22             Q     Who was present at that meeting?

       23             A     Well, there was the Blooms, Bob O'Donnell,

       24      Henry Langsam, and myself, Dr. Pfennig, a lawyer from King

       25      Sweet [sic] named Reid, and Paul Kelly.  Those were the only
�
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        1      three I know.

        2                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I would note -- and I'm sure

        3      I'll be overruled for the record.  This is outside the scope

        4      of the narrative summary provided to me by Attorney Fennick

        5      on March 24th at approximately 10:28 p.m.

        6                   MR. LITTS:  The objection's noted and the

        7      objection's overruled.

        8             Q     All right.  You just told us who was present at

        9      the meeting and you said Mr. Reid.  Is that Kevin Reid from
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       10      King Spry?

       11             A     I would assume so.  I remember his last name;

       12      I don't know his first name.

       13             Q     And was there a discussion during that meeting

       14      about certain renewal conditions?

       15             A     Yes.

       16                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I would just note I'm not sure

       17      how this is relevant.

       18                   MR. LITTS:  Either am I, but, Mr. Fennick,

       19      you better get to it quick.

       20                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Okay.

       21             Q     Was there a discussion about utility payments

       22      from the -- strike that.  Was there a discussion about how

       23      utility payments for the charter school building would be

       24      allocated between the church and the charter school?

       25             A     They -- the discussion --
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        1                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I would still note my objection.

        2      I don't know how this is relevant.

        3                   MR. FENNICK:  Well, if the district would like

        4      to withdraw its allegation that the 10 percent allocation is

        5      unreasonable I would be very glad to skip this area of his

        6      testimony.

        7                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Well, the district does not have

        8      the power to withdraw anything.  We've heard testimony over

        9      my objection on this earlier.  This is merely cumulative.

       10      Moreover, John Severs is going to testify to the foundation

       11      for the records we have sent you which answers some of the

       12      allegations of non-compliance.  For example, as to the

       13      emergency plan, he will testify as to the facts regarding

       14      that plan.  As to Middle States accreditation, he will
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       15      testify as to what has happened with that.  That's the

       16      scope.

       17                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm sorry, what was the

       18      objection?  I thought the objection was that this would be

       19      cumulative.  In other words --

       20                   MS. SCHURDAK:  It is cumulative.

       21                   MR. FENNICK:  So, we're only allowed to have

       22      one witness on a disputed area of fact.  Is that the

       23      objection?

       24                   MR. LITTS:  Are you guys done objecting?

       25                   MR. FENNICK:  I didn't object at all.
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        1                   MR. LITTS:  All right.  Are you guys done

        2      arguing?

        3                   MR. FENNICK:  Yes.

        4                   MR. LITTS:  I'll allow this, but it is running

        5      a little bit a far afield, but I will allow it.  I mean,

        6      Mr. Severs -- why don't I just do this?  Was there some

        7      discussion about utility payments at this meeting?

        8             A     Yes.

        9                   MR. LITTS:  Could you just briefly please tell

       10      me what your recollection of those discussions were?

       11             A     There was a discussion about time and use of

       12      the building and Pastor Bloom had created time and schedule

       13      and it came out to about 5 percent, but there were -- he

       14      also said there were special days that were involved, so

       15      Paul Kelly said, "Well, considering the special days let's

       16      make it 10 percent and everybody will be -- we're on the

       17      safe side."

       18                   MR. LITTS:  And this schedule that you referred

       19      to, was that at this meeting?

       20             A     It went across the table, so -- and I was at
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       21      the other end of the table.

       22                   MR. LITTS:  Is it your recollection that this

       23      schedule was shared with the school district?

       24             A     Yes.

       25                   MR. LITTS:  Mr. Fennick, do you have any other
�
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        1      questions on this document?

        2                   MR. FENNICK:  On the meeting, yes; on the

        3      10 percent, no.

        4                   MR. LITTS:  All right.  Then move on to

        5      something else with regard to the meeting, other than the

        6      utilities about this meeting, please.

        7             Q     Was there a discussion about the condition in

        8      the renewal charter regarding membership in the Shawnee

        9      Tabernacle Church?

       10                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'm going to object.  We have a

       11      contract here, the charter itself.  Parole evidence bars,

       12      unless there's fraud or some other limited exceptions,

       13      evidence that pre-dates the entering into a contract and

       14      that's what he's trying to get around.

       15                   MR. FENNICK:  My goodness.

       16                   MR. LITTS:  Again, I'm going to overrule the

       17      objection.  The board will consider the renewed charter and

       18      its terms.  We've heard characterization about whether or

       19      not that was done willingly by the charter school and if

       20      there's some testimony about this meeting we can hear it.

       21      Again, I don't know what value -- the board can decide what

       22      the value of the meeting is, but you can ask him questions

       23      about this area.

       24                   MR. FENNICK:  And I'm happy for you to do it,

       25      Mr. Litts, because you don't get objections.  If you want to
�
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        1      ask him what was said about the religious issue, that's

        2      great.

        3                   MR. LITTS:  Mr. Severs, could you just please

        4      describe for us what you recall that discussion entailed?

        5             A     Well, both attorneys, Reid and Bob O'Donnell,

        6      didn't want to go there.  After both of them objected there

        7      was a recess and we left the room and when we came back it

        8      was -- this was the condition, take it or leave it.

        9                   MR. LITTS:  Thank you.

       10             Q     Now, Mr. Severs, I want to ask you about the

       11      physical layout of the building.  How much -- can you

       12      describe for this board how big the space is in the building

       13      that's allocated for the church?  For example, can you

       14      compare it to this room?

       15             A     The all-purpose room?

       16             Q     Yes.  Whatever is used for the church for

       17      services and offices.

       18             A     Well, offices, I don't know.  I know that they

       19      have -- the all-purpose room on Sunday's called the

       20      sanctuary and it's an all-purpose room.

       21             Q     How big is it compared to this room?

       22             A     Twice the size of this room.

       23             Q     Okay.  And have you seen church activities in

       24      any other part of the building?

       25             A     I've seen -- they -- I've been in there on
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        1      Sunday and they've used some of the classrooms for

        2      babysitting.

        3             Q     Are you in the building at odd hours?

        4             A     Well, I was in on Sunday because my mom's in a

        5      nursing home.
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        6             Q     Are you often in the building on Sundays?

        7             A     No.

        8             Q     Once a month?  Once a year?

        9             A     Two or three times during the year.

       10             Q     What about in the evenings?

       11             A     I used to be on Wednesday, some Fridays.  This

       12      past month I've been there on Saturdays for tutoring.

       13             Q     And is the church using the building, other

       14      than you've described, at the other times that you've been

       15      there?

       16             A     I don't know.

       17             Q     Well, do you see them using it?

       18             A     Well --

       19                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Asked and answered.

       20                   MR. LITTS:  Well --

       21             A     I don't know.  When I'm doing what I'm doing I

       22      just pay attention to what I'm doing and then leave.

       23             Q     Okay.  Does the school use the building for

       24      activities other than during the normal school hours?

       25             A     Yes.
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        1             Q     What kind of activities does the school use it

        2      for?

        3             A     Tutoring, we have some evening meetings during

        4      the summertime for parents ... we used to present evening

        5      concerts, that kind of thing.

        6             Q     I want to move on to one of the Special

        7      Education students, the issue of records transmittal.

        8      With regard to Student No. 1, there was an issue of when

        9      records got to the school district and I think Dr. Gustafson

       10      testified that she came to the school for records.  Do you
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       11      recall that?

       12             A     Yes.

       13             Q     And do you agree that she came to the school?

       14             A     Yes.  I gave them to her.  At the front desk.

       15             Q     Did she tell you in advance that she would be

       16      coming?

       17             A     Well, it wasn't a particular day she told me,

       18      but it was later -- she came at a later date during bus

       19      dismissal.

       20             Q     So, she showed up and asked you for the

       21      records, you gave her the records.

       22             A     Yes.  And I apologized because we didn't have

       23      them by -- the sheet for her to sign.

       24             Q     And as far as you were concerned when you

       25      handed her the records was that the end of the Student No. 1
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        1      records controversy, if I can call it that?

        2             A     Yes.

        3             Q     Do you remember when the meeting -- when that

        4      meeting was?

        5             A     No.

        6             Q     Now, you have a book, I hope, Joint exhibits,

        7      and I'm looking for Joint 16 and I don't know ... Tab 22.

        8      Mr. Severs, you have that exhibit in front of you?

        9             A     Yes.

       10             Q     Is that a letter that you wrote to

       11      Dr. Gustafson?

       12             A     Yes, it is.

       13             Q     And what's the date?

       14             A     February the 6th, 2008.

       15             Q     Can you give us some context?  What happened

       16      that led you to write that letter?
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       17             A     Dr. Gustafson was sending communications.  I

       18      talked to Dr. -- to Mrs. Sotack and she said that -- I asked

       19      her how to respond.

       20                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'm going to object to whatever

       21      Mrs. Sotack may have said.  At this point she's already

       22      testified.  There was an agreement we weren't going to bring

       23      her back to testify again and this is clearly going to

       24      interfere with that.

       25                   MR. LITTS:  Well, I'll sustain the objection.
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        1      This gentleman has many years of experience of public

        2      education and I'm sure whatever he wrote is -- he wrote

        3      because -- he wrote it.  So, I'll sustain the objection.

        4             Q     When you wrote this letter were you relying on

        5      information that Miss Sotack had given you as well as your

        6      own assessment of your responsibilities under the Special

        7      Education rules?

        8             A     Yes.  Miss Sotack is our supervisor so I

        9      followed her instructions.

       10             Q     And why did you -- what is it that you wanted

       11      to convey?

       12             A     The fact that if Dr. Gustafson had issues that

       13      she could pass those issues on to me, but she needs to

       14      contact Debbie Sotack and we could -- Miss Sotack will tell

       15      me what I had to do.

       16             Q     There has been reference made to the closing

       17      paragraph -- or somewhere in here you used the term "Please

       18      stop."

       19             A     Yes.

       20             Q     And why did you stay say, "Please stop."

       21             A     Well, there were things that were in the report
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       22      and -- in some report that did not align to Chapter 711.

       23      Or -- 711 so that I suggested that she contact Miss Sotack

       24      or I shall, but there was -- the attempt to circumvent that

       25      and interject herself into the Special Ed. process was not
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        1      going to go unnoticed.

        2             Q     Did you get instructions -- without saying what

        3      those instructions were did you get instructions from Miss

        4      Sotack about what steps to take if the Pocono Mountain

        5      School District requests Special Education records of

        6      children in the charter school?

        7             A     Yes, I did.

        8             Q     And have you followed those instructions?

        9             A     Yes, I did.  I did then and I have since.

       10             Q     Does the Pennsylvania Department of Education

       11      do cyclical progress monitoring at the charter school?

       12             A     Yes.

       13             Q     And how often do you see representatives of the

       14      PDE Special Ed. bureau?

       15             A     Well, thanks to the school board -- to Pocono

       16      Mountain we've seen them many times.

       17             Q     Okay.  Give us an idea of how many times that

       18      is.

       19             A     At least three times formally and one time as a

       20      surprise visit.

       21             Q     I think there was testimony that at one point

       22      you had a non-certified teacher, you had to give

       23      compensatory education --

       24             A     Yes.

       25             Q     Other than that there have there been any
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        1      findings against the charter school?  From the Special
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        2      Education visits.

        3             A     There's been paperwork findings, yes.

        4             Q     And have you complied with what you've been

        5      asked to do?

        6             A     Yes.

        7             Q     Were you here when Miss Sotack testified?

        8             A     Yes.

        9             Q     And was her recitation of the facts regarding

       10      her visits to the charter school accurate?

       11             A     Yes.

       12             Q     There was a letter or a finding that she made

       13      asking you to rescind records to the Pocono Mountain School

       14      District.

       15             A     I did that.  I -- regarding Student No. 1, so I

       16      resent the records, this time certified receipt requested.

       17             Q     And was she referring to the fact that you said

       18      you handed them to Dr. Gustafson?

       19             A     Yes.

       20             Q     Now, there was also some criticism of a bonus

       21      payment that was made to Priscilla Bloom for work she had

       22      done over the summer, I think in the amount of $1500.00.

       23      Are you familiar with that incident?

       24                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Again, I would note for the

       25      record this is beyond the scope of the narrative summary
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        1      that Mr. Fennick supplied to me on March 24th.

        2                   MR. FENNICK:  Well, I don't think it is.

        3                   MR. LITTS:  Well, it's noted for the record.

        4      The witness may answer the question.

        5             A     All the kids got bonuses.  I recommended to

        6      Pastor Bloom that they should all get bonuses.
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        7             Q     And what did they get bonuses for?

        8             A     Working in the school at various tasks.

        9             Q     Was this cleanup kind of stuff or --

       10             A     Yes, primarily.

       11                   (PAYROLL JOURNAL marked for identification as

       12      Charter School Exhibit No. 22.)

       13                   MR. LITTS:  Mr. Fennick has marked two pages as

       14      Charter School 22.

       15             Q     Mr. Severs, can you tell us what Charter School

       16      22 is?

       17             A     It's a payroll journal.

       18             Q     For what time period?  I draw your attention to

       19      the bottom where it says Period Ending Date.

       20             A     6-29-07.

       21             Q     Are these the bonuses that you just referred

       22      to?

       23             A     They look like it.

       24             Q     It says total earnings, $1500.00, for each

       25      person?
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        1             A     Right.

        2             Q     Can you give us -- just read off the names of

        3      the people who got $1500.00.

        4                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Objection.  The document speaks

        5      for itself.  It's been marked as an exhibit.

        6                   MR. FENNICK:  Okay.

        7                   MR. LITTS:  Any reason this witness has to read

        8      this?

        9                   MR. FENNICK:  No.  If that's the ruling that's

       10      the -- that's fine, I'll certainly accept that.

       11             Q     Mr. Severs, I do want to ask you this.  If

       12      anyone wanted to know whether Priscilla Bloom was the only
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       13      person who got a $1500.00 bonus on that day would this

       14      document give them the answer?

       15             A     Yes.

       16             Q     While I'm doing this, look at Joint Exhibit 14.

       17                   MR. LITTS:  That's Tab 20, sir.

       18                   (ENVELOPE marked for identification as Charter

       19      School Exhibit No. 23.)

       20             Q     Mr. Severs, I'm showing you what we've marked

       21      has CS-23.  Is that a photocopy of an envelope?

       22             A     Yes.

       23             Q     And did that envelope contain the letter that

       24      has been identify as Joint 14?

       25             A     Yes.
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        1             Q     What's the date of the letter?  If we look at

        2      the letter itself, Joint 14.

        3             A     January 21.  No, that's not the letter.

        4             Q     I'm sorry.

        5                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Are you trying to say that the

        6      school district didn't mail something until a year later?

        7                   MR. FENNICK:  No.  Sorry, I gave you the wrong

        8      exhibit.

        9             Q     I'm sorry, the letter is ... here, I'm showing

       10      you -- this -- a letter dated November 9th, 2009.

       11             A     This is the letter.

       12             Q     All right.  Is that the letter that came within

       13      the envelope that we've marked as CS-23?

       14             A     Yes.

       15             Q     And the date on the letter?

       16             A     November the 9th.

       17             Q     And the date on CS-23 is ...?
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       18             A     November 19th.

       19                   MR. LITTS:  Mr. Fennick, so I'm clear for

       20      purposes of the record, are you offering Charter School 23,

       21      both the envelope and the letter, as a single exhibit?

       22                   MR. FENNICK:  No, I was not going to offer the

       23      letter because it's not redacted.  There has been testimony

       24      about it, but there was testimony that it was sent on a

       25      certain date and I'm offering the envelope to show that it
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        1      wasn't actually mailed until the 19th of November.

        2                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Well, I guess --

        3                   MR. LITTS:  Well --

        4                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I can't accept --

        5                   MR. LITTS:  Well, hold up, hold up.  What I

        6      have is a postmark and I don't know if that's the internal

        7      electronic thing ....

        8                   MR. FENNICK:  It's a metered stamp.

        9                   MR. LITTS:  It appears to be a metered stamp.

       10                   MR. FENNICK:  Right, generated by the school

       11      district.

       12                   MR. LITTS:  It appears to be that, but without

       13      authenticating it I don't know if that's the case or not.

       14                   MS. SCHURDAK:  There's no stamp Received.  I

       15      mean, there's a lot of letters going from the school

       16      district to the charter school.

       17                   MR. FENNICK:  And they would have to make a

       18      credibility determination.

       19                   MR. LITTS:  Well, why don't we do this?  Again,

       20      maybe I'm missing something, maybe this is relevant.  I

       21      don't know if it is or not.  Mr. Severs, on Charter School

       22      23 did you personally retrieve this?

       23             A     Yes.
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       24                   MR. LITTS:  And where did you retrieve it from?

       25             A     My school box mail.
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        1                   MR. LITTS:  Now, this is dated November 19th,

        2      2009.  I'm talking more recently.  Did you recently retrieve

        3      this envelope?

        4             A     No.

        5                   MR. LITTS:  So, what --

        6                   MR. FENNICK:  If I can ask him more questions.

        7                   MR. LITTS:  You better because this is -- it

        8      makes no sense to me, it makes absolutely no sense to me.

        9      This gentleman received a letter.  I don't doubt he receives

       10      many letters, but I don't know how you're associating this

       11      envelope with this letter.  Somebody better identify it.

       12                   MR. FENNICK:  I'll ask him.  I really didn't

       13      think this would be challenged since we've had bags given

       14      out at elections which we had no foundation for whatsoever,

       15      but I will ask.

       16             Q     Mr. Severs, when you received the letter of

       17      November 9th did you take note of the amount of time it was

       18      between the date of the letter and when you had received it?

       19             A     Yeah.  It was a curiosity that it was -- that

       20      that discrepancy existed.  Usually it isn't like that.

       21             Q     Okay.  So, you got a letter on -- can you tell

       22      us when you got it based on the metered stamp?  Within a

       23      couple days?

       24             A     No, I don't know what day of the week it was.

       25      It's just another letter in the mailbox.
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        1             Q     When you got the letter did it seem that it was

        2      dated well before the date that you received it?
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        3             A     That part was unusual and I took that to

        4      Pastor Bloom and --

        5             Q     And did you take him the envelope?

        6             A     Yes.

        7                   (MSACS VISITATION SCHEDULE marked for

        8      identification as Charter School Exhibit No. 24.)

        9                   (MEMBERSHIP BALLOT marked for identification as

       10      Charter School Exhibit No. 25.)

       11             Q     Mr. Severs, I'm showing you two documents we've

       12      marked as 24 and 25.  Can you tell us what those documents

       13      represent?  Let's take No. 24 first.  Who's it from and

       14      what's it dated?

       15             A     Both documents are from the Middle States

       16      Association of Colleges and Schools.  No. 24 indicates the

       17      visiting team's dates.

       18             Q     What's the date of the letter?

       19             A     July 23rd, 2009.

       20             Q     And you said they want to make a visit.  They

       21      propose a visit for March 2010, right?

       22             A     Right.

       23             Q     Last week, okay.  Did this visit take place?

       24             A     No.

       25             Q     And why not?
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        1             A     Those were discussions between Pastor Bloom and

        2      the Middle States Association.

        3             Q     Do you know whether it had anything to do with

        4      these hearings?

        5             A     Well, yes, Middle States Association doesn't

        6      usually get involved in schools that are involved in these

        7      type of hearings.

        8             Q     And tell us what CS-25 is.
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        9             A     That's just a -- once you become -- once you

       10      apply and are accepted into the visitation process this is a

       11      political ballot for membership of different people to the

       12      Middle States Association, being an associate member.

       13             Q     Did you receive this in November of 2008?

       14             A     Late, it was late in 2008.  I can't tell you

       15      the exact date.

       16             Q     Well, it has a date on the third line of

       17      November of 2008.  Does that refresh your memory as to when

       18      you got it?

       19             A     Well, it was late in the year, 2008.

       20             Q     We've established that the renewal charter

       21      states that the charter school should apply for Middle

       22      States accreditation.  Has the charter school done that?

       23             A     We did that --

       24                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'm going to object.  That is

       25      not a correct characterization.  The charter says that they
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        1      will maintain or achieve the accreditation, not apply.

        2                   MR. LITTS:  Well, I'll let the question be

        3      asked.  Mr. Severs, do you know when the charter school

        4      applied for accreditation?

        5             A     December.

        6                   MR. LITTS:  Of?

        7             A     Of -- the December of 2007 or '6.

        8             Q     Well, how does it relate to the date that the

        9      charter was renewed?

       10             A     It was that December.  So, it was December of

       11      2006.  We applied that December and the process just carried

       12      forth.

       13             Q     And --
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       14             A     We got a visit from one of the presidents of

       15      the -- one of their divisions.

       16             Q     And have you cooperated with their requests for

       17      information and --

       18             A     Middle States?  Yes.

       19             Q     How exhaustive a process is it or how thorough

       20      a process is it to apply for accreditation?

       21             A     The application for accreditation is not

       22      extensive.  We applied for that, but the process for

       23      accreditation is quite extensive.

       24             Q     Explain it a little bit to the board.

       25             A     Well, you have a visiting team come of up --
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        1      depending if you have a middle school, secondary school or

        2      you're going K to 12.  Since we go K to 12 we would have had

        3      two visiting teams.  They're examining curriculum, they

        4      would interview staff members as well as board members as

        5      well as parents.  They said they would be here anywhere from

        6      a week to 10 days.  In that process.

        7             Q     So, have you had any of the visits yet?

        8             A     No.  Except for the one to get it started.

        9             Q     So, do you know, just tell us if you know, the

       10      visit that was proposed for March 22nd, is that by the --

       11      both teams or is it just --

       12             A     It would have been by both teams and -- it

       13      would have been by both teams, K to 12.

       14             Q     Once this visit occurs do you know how long it

       15      takes to get a decision from Middle States?

       16             A     They told us up to six months.

       17                   (ANNUAL CONSOLIDATED GRANT APP. marked for

       18      identification as Charter School Exhibit No. 26.)

       19                   (PDE LETTER dated 11-3-2008 marked for
Page 103



29MR10A1

       20      identification as Charter School Exhibit No. 27.)

       21             Q     Mr. Severs, I'm showing you what we have

       22      identified as Charter School Exhibit No. 26 and 27.  Let's

       23      start with 26.  Can you tell us what that is?

       24             A     Well, it's the annual consolidated grant

       25      application.  The application's been approved, what was
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        1      compiled on line, and sent in to the state.

        2             Q     Okay.  And who -- where does this money come

        3      from?

        4                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Can I -- how is this relevant?

        5                   MR. LITTS:  I assume ... the objection is

        6      relevancy and, Mr. Fennick, your response is?

        7                   MR. FENNICK:  Well, I'll ask Mr. Severs what

        8      requirements the charter school has to meet to be eligible

        9      for this grant and that may shed some light on whether some

       10      of the allegations in the revocation are accurate and I was

       11      going to ask him the same thing about CS-27.

       12             A     It's --

       13                   MR. FENNICK:  Wait.

       14                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I personally don't see how this

       15      is at all relevant to the issues pending before the board.

       16                   MR. LITTS:  I'm of similar mind, but I don't

       17      want to foreclose Mr. Fennick from asking questions about

       18      this area.  I mean -- I'll allow you if you just keep it

       19      succinct.  You might be able to close the circle for me.

       20             Q     Mr. Severs, can you tell us what requirements,

       21      monitoring or bookkeeping or recordkeeping requirements

       22      you -- let me finish the question -- you had to comply with

       23      in order to be eligible for this grant?

       24             A     We had -- it's a federal grant and it comes
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       25      through -- it's a consolidation of Title I and some other
�
                                 Severs - Direct                      1586

        1      grants.  Some other titles.  You apply for the funding,

        2      fill out the application in the spring.  During the summer

        3      you get your approval or dis -- or clarification.  The first

        4      three years I was here we had federal monitoring.

        5             Q     And what are they monitoring you for?

        6             A     They audit.  They audit the expenses.

        7             Q     To?

        8             A     To validate that we're spending it as we said

        9      we were.

       10             Q     Okay.  Is that Title 1 money or something else?

       11             A     Basically it's Title 1 money, but there are

       12      other small titles involved.

       13             Q     And do they go through your financial records

       14      when they do that?

       15             A     Yes.

       16             Q     Have you passed all three of those --

       17             A     Yes.

       18             Q     Let's take a look at CS-27.

       19             A     Okay.

       20             Q     That's a letter from the Department of

       21      Education, Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, dated November 3rd,

       22      2008.  What does that letter tell us?

       23             A     It's -- "... pleased to informed you that the

       24      Division of Federal Programs has received your application

       25      in substantially approval [sic].  The date you may begin to
�
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        1      obligate funds is August 5th, 2008."

        2             Q     Now, is that the same money that is referred to

        3      in the other letter, CS-26?  Or is that a different program?

        4             A     No, it's an annual program.  This is different.
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        5             Q     Okay.  So, tell us what the grant is for in

        6      CS-27.

        7             A     Well, the date on CS-27 is an obligation of

        8      funds for 2008, for the 2008-9 consolidated grant, and the

        9      other is for the 2007-2008 consolidated amended application.

       10             Q     Do you also have to subject yourself to

       11      inspections to get the money that is referred to in CS-27?

       12             A     Generally not, but we did.  The State sent --

       13      for the first three years they sent somebody out and we did

       14      go through a monitoring process for it.

       15             Q     And is that monitoring process for CS-27 in

       16      addition to the monitoring process for CS-26?

       17             A     Yes.

       18             Q     And did you pass all three of those --

       19             A     Yes.

       20                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Objection.  I would want to see

       21      the results.  That's the best evidence, not his spin on

       22      whatever --

       23                   MR. FENNICK:  There's a misunderstanding of --

       24                   MR. LITTS:  Well, I'll sustain the objection as

       25      to audits to the extent that it's a special term of art
�
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        1      within the educational field.  So, these aren't audits,

        2      they're applications, they were approved.  There's some

        3      perfunctory review of paperwork.  I think you've made your

        4      point, Mr. Fennick, and if that's the point, I agree, it's

        5      not relevant to the charges.  So, let's move on.

        6             Q     With regard to Special Education Student No. 1,

        7      do you know who we're talking about?

        8             A     Yes.

        9             Q     Were you involved in the events that took place
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       10      at the end of the student's tenure at the Pocono Mountain

       11      Charter School?  There was a disciplinary incident.

       12             A     Yes.

       13             Q     And did the student's parents voluntarily sign

       14      her out of the charter school?

       15             A     The father did, I think.

       16             Q     Did you attend the reevaluation meetings that

       17      took place in October-November that Ms. Schneider-Sable

       18      talked about?

       19             A     Yes.

       20             Q     And do you agree that Dr. Wargo was there?

       21             A     Yes.  She attended all the meetings.

       22                   (CHILD FIND NOTICE marked for identification as

       23      Charter School Exhibit No. 28.)

       24             Q     Take a look at CS-28.  There was a question

       25      raised about the school's Child Find responsibilities by
�
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        1      Dr. Gustafson.  What does --

        2             A     This is the Child Find that we sent to IU20.

        3             Q     So, is IU20 publishing the notices for you that

        4      you are required to publish under the Child Find laws?

        5             A     Yes.

        6             Q     And this is dated what?

        7             A     July 1st, 2009.

        8             Q     Who is Dr. Gail Vogel?

        9             A     She's the Director of Special Education at

       10      IU20.

       11             Q     And do you know who Bobbie R. Pinkley is?

       12             A     She's a supervisor.

       13             Q     And turn to Page 4 of the exhibit.  Do you see

       14      any indication for the Pocono Mountain Charter School on

       15      Page 4?
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       16             A     Yes, it's third from the top.

       17             Q     But does that show us that this advertising

       18      refers to your charter school?

       19             A     Yes.

       20                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'm going to object to the

       21      ongoing leading nature of the questions.  I know it makes it

       22      quicker, but Mr. Fennick has been asking leading questions

       23      for at least the last seven minutes.

       24                   MR. LITTS:  Objection is noted.  Mr. Fennick,

       25      don't be leading.
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        1                   MR. FENNICK:  Sorry.  That's all I have.

        2      Cross examine.

        3                             - - -

        4      CROSS EXAMINATION BY MS. SCHURDAK:

        5             Q     Mr. Severs, you said on direct that Miss Sotack

        6      was your supervisor.  That's not true, is it?

        7             A     She's the supervisor of Special Education for

        8      charter schools for our area.  Or was.

        9             Q     And you were present when she testified that

       10      she reviewed the charter school's records for procedural

       11      issues only.  Is that correct?

       12                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm going to object.  Her

       13      testimony stands for itself.  It doesn't whether Mr. Severs

       14      was present or not.

       15             Q     Well, do you disagree with that, Mr. Severs?

       16                   MR. FENNICK:  Don't answer the question.

       17      There's an objection.

       18                   MR. LITTS:  Hold up.  I'll sustain the

       19      objection.  I don't think we need to go over Miss Sotack's

       20      testimony; we have the transcript.  Now, if Miss Schurdak
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       21      has questions with regards to whether this witness may agree

       22      with certain pieces of testimony to define the relationship

       23      between her and the charter school, that's fair game.

       24      Let's get to that point.

       25             Q     Miss Sotack isn't employed by the charter
�
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        1      school, is she?

        2             A     No.

        3             Q     Now, I want to go over your qualifications and

        4      your history in terms of your career.  Why did you leave the

        5      Keyport School District?

        6             A     They were going to go -- the proposal was to

        7      change the job to part-time.  That proposal was made by a

        8      board member in December, so I started looking for another

        9      job.

       10             Q     And it's your testimony that -- strike that.

       11      What was the time frame that you worked for the Einstein

       12      charter school?

       13             A     October to April.

       14             Q     Of what year?

       15             A     2002.

       16             Q     To April of 2002?  One month?

       17                   MR. FENNICK:  Between October and April is more

       18      than --

       19             Q     October.  I thought I heard you say March.

       20      October of '02 to April of '03?

       21             A     That's about right.

       22             Q     I don't want you to guess.  Is it April '03 or

       23      April '04?

       24             A     No, it would be '3.

       25             Q     Did you work for Einstein Academy when the CAB
�
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        1      decision was issued?

        2             A     No.  When I left -- they bought out my

        3      contract.  I left.  As far as I know, I was the only one

        4      that got paid.

        5             Q     And what do you mean when you say you got

        6      bought out?

        7             A     They bought the -- my contract out, plus the

        8      bonus.

        9             Q     How much were you paid?

       10                   MR. FENNICK:  Objection.

       11                   MR. LITTS:  Overruled.

       12                   MR. FENNICK:  Is that subject to a

       13      confidentiality agreement?

       14             A     No.

       15                   MR. FENNICK:  All right.

       16             A     I was paid 105,000 plus a bonus.

       17             Q     Of how much?

       18             A     95,000.  I received a payment of 50 percent of

       19      the 105,000, but I received the entire bonus.

       20             Q     And did you resign from that position?

       21             A     To get that check?  Yes.

       22             Q     It was suggested by the board that you resign,

       23      wasn't it, sir?

       24             A     Yes.  They had approved -- this was their fifth

       25      CEO in three months.  So, I was happy to -- happy to take
�
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        1      the check because I knew what was coming.

        2             Q     And you would agree with me, would you not,

        3      the Einstein charter school had significant deficiencies in

        4      the Special Ed. department.

        5             A     Oh, yeah, and they made no effort to -- when

Page 110



29MR10A1
        6      they received that check for $880,000.00 they made no effort

        7      to take care of those deficiencies.

        8             Q     And, likewise, Einstein Academy Charter School

        9      had significant accounting issues.

       10                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm going to object.  This is not

       11      about Einstein.

       12                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Well, Mr. Fennick brought it up

       13      on direct.

       14                   MR. FENNICK:  Well --

       15                   MR. LITTS:  I understand, but, Miss Schurdak,

       16      where are you going because I want to give you folks some

       17      latitude, but this gentleman testified he left before it was

       18      revoked, he's explained the circumstances of having left,

       19      he explained he had some issues with how they were

       20      operating.  What else do we need to know?

       21                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Well, that's --

       22                   MR. LITTS:  I'm just -- I'll let you go for a

       23      little bit, but I'll keep you on a real short leash.

       24             Q     Do you have any certifications in Pennsylvania

       25      in the field of Special Ed.?
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        1             A     No.

        2             Q     Have you received any training in the field of

        3      Special Ed.?  Again, as relates just to Pennsylvania laws.

        4             A     No.

        5             Q     Were you the person that teachers were expected

        6      to come to with questions relating to Special Ed. prior to

        7      the Director of Special Ed. Services being hired in the

        8      fall/winter of 2008?

        9             A     Yes.

       10             Q     Now, Attorney Fennick has shown you what's been

       11      marked as CS-22 and I'm not sure if you still have exhibits
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       12      in front of you, sir.  All bonuses prior to being issued are

       13      approved by the board, are they not?

       14             A     They should be, yes.

       15             Q     Do you have anything with you today to indicate

       16      that the bonuses were approved by the board?

       17             A     No, not on that paper.

       18             Q     In terms of accreditation, do you agree that

       19      as -- well, strike that.  Have you reviewed the charter

       20      prior to testifying here today?

       21             A     No.  Initially when I came in, but that's ....

       22             Q     Many months ago.

       23             A     Yes.

       24             Q     J-5.  I don't know what tab that would be.

       25                   MR. LITTS:  That would be Tab 5.
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        1             Q     Well, look at that.

        2             A     Okay.

        3             Q     Now, Paragraph -- and this is the charter the

        4      charter school's currently operating under, isn't it?

        5             A     Yes.

        6             Q     And Paragraph No. 7 says, "The charter school

        7      shall obtain and maintain accreditation with the Middle

        8      States Association or other school accreditation agency

        9      satisfactory to Pocono Mountain School Board.  An

       10      application shall be submitted by the charter school by

       11      January 15th, '07."  I have read that correctly?

       12             A     Yes.

       13             Q     Do you agree that the charter school has had

       14      over three years to obtain accreditation?

       15             A     It says the -- shall -- we applied.  What they

       16      do after that is up to them.  They are an independent
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       17      agency.

       18             Q     Well, when did you start the self-study

       19      process?

       20             A     It would have been after Dr. -- their

       21      representative came we began that process.

       22             Q     What year?

       23             A     That was the following fall.

       24             Q     What year?

       25             A     2007.
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        1             Q     The fall of 2007 you began the self-study

        2      process?

        3             A     We began the -- that process.  We went to the

        4      training the following year to receive the documentation

        5      that would formalize it.

        6             Q     When did you formalize the self-study?

        7             A     That process stopped when they found out that

        8      we were in revocation.

        9             Q     In fact, you requested that the on-site visit

       10      be postponed from the fall season until the spring season,

       11      didn't you?

       12             A     Yes, I did.

       13             Q     I'm going to show you what I'll have marked --

       14                   MS. SCHURDAK:  And I know this is slightly out

       15      of order, Mr. Litts, but if you can just humor me because I

       16      also already have SD-50 marked.  So, I'll skip to SD-51.

       17                   (    marked for identification as School

       18      District Exhibit No. 51.)

       19             Q     Was it your testimony the accreditation process

       20      stopped?

       21                   MR. FENNICK:  He didn't testify that the

       22      accreditation process stopped.
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       23             Q     Well, you tell me what's going on right now

       24      with accreditation.

       25             A     The last conversation I had was with Pastor.
�
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        1      Pastor talked to the Middle States.  He reported to me --

        2                   MR. FENNICK:  I'll object.  You're asking for

        3      hearsay and I'm very surprised.

        4                   MR. LITTS:  There's been all sorts of hearsay,

        5      Mr. Fennick.  You can continue to answer the question.

        6                   MR. FENNICK:  Okay, as long as we understand

        7      that continues --

        8             A     He had spoken to the Middle States Association

        9      and it was reported to me that the -- it was on hold at this

       10      time.

       11             Q     When did you learn of that, on hold at this

       12      time?

       13             A     After we came back from the official meeting at

       14      Philadelphia.

       15             Q     When?

       16             A     That was in the Fall of 2009.

       17             Q     What grades are you seeking accreditation for

       18      in the pending application?

       19             A     Initial application was for K to 12.

       20             Q     What changed?

       21             A     Nothing that I know of.

       22             Q     You said the initial application.  Has there

       23      been a second application?

       24             A     No.

       25             Q     Has there been any discussion that you're aware
�
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        1      of at any board meetings changing that accreditation?
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        2             A     No.

        3             Q     Do you attend the board meetings?

        4             A     No, not anymore.

        5             Q     When did you stop attending the board meetings?

        6             A     2008.

        7             Q     Do you have anything in writing with you today

        8      from Middle States Association stating that the association

        9      has put the accreditation process on hold because of the

       10      revocation proceedings?

       11             A     No.

       12             Q     Now, Mr. Fennick asked you about some grants

       13      the charter school had applied for and received.  In fact,

       14      sir, in March of this year the charter school received

       15      notice that the charter school was not in state compliance

       16      with state requirements mandating dental, physical, vision,

       17      hearing, scoliosis or growth/BMI examinations as well as not

       18      employing a certified school nurse, correct?

       19                   MR. FENNICK:  Objection.  It is beyond the

       20      scope of direct, it is not contained within the May 21st,

       21      2008, resolution, and we haven't been given notice of that.

       22                   MR. LITTS:  Overruled.

       23                   MR. FENNICK:  And, oh, by the way, my questions

       24      were objected to on the grounds of relevance because it

       25      doesn't prove anything.
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        1                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I agree that if Mr. Severs

        2      hadn't been allowed to testify as to CS-26 or 27 that SD-50

        3      wouldn't have come in.  But, Mr. Fennick put credibility at

        4      issue and this is as a result of opening the door.

        5                   MR. FENNICK:  That put credibility at issue?

        6      You are not saying that Penn ....

        7                   MR. LITTS:  Remember, Counsel --
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        8                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Penn didn't rate students,

        9      Mr. Fennick.  I never said that.  I said I attended a top 10

       10      law school.

       11                   MR. LITTS:  Look, I realize it's getting late,

       12      but I'll ask Counsel to -- the Korman case -- there's been a

       13      number of things offered by both sides which the board may

       14      determine to be relevant or not.  This may end up being one

       15      of them, so I will allow it noting your objection, Mr.

       16      Fennick.

       17                   (DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH LETTER marked for

       18      identification as School District Exhibit No. 50.)

       19             Q     Mr. Severs, SD-50.

       20                   MR. FENNICK:  What is the question?  Can we

       21      have a question?

       22                   MR. LITTS:  Miss Schurdak?

       23                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'm going to ask the court

       24      reporter to read it back.

       25                             - - -
�
                                  Severs - Cross                      1600

        1                   (The reporter read as follows:  "Now, Mr.

        2      Fennick asked you about some grants the charter school had

        3      applied for and received.  In fact, sir, in March of this

        4      year the charter school received notice that the charter

        5      school was not in state compliance with state requirements

        6      mandating dental, physical, vision, hearing, scoliosis or

        7      growth/BMI examinations as well as not employing a certified

        8      school nurse, correct?")

        9                   MR. FENNICK:  I'll further object that the

       10      document speaks for itself.  Just as we didn't have Mr.

       11      Severs read from the financial ledger based on Miss

       12      Schurdak's objection, this one speaks for itself as well.
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       13                   MS. SCHURDAK:  As long as there's no objection

       14      to SD-50 being admitted into evidence, then ....

       15                   MR. FENNICK:  Well, I didn't say that.  I

       16      didn't say that.

       17                   MR. LITTS:  Well, I'm assuming the answer to

       18      the question is yes unless I get a strenuous objection from

       19      Mr. Fennick and I'm not hearing one.

       20                   MR. FENNICK:  Objection to what -- my objection

       21      in general, other than the ones that I've already made, is

       22      that she's asked Mr. Severs to characterize the legal

       23      significance of that letter.

       24                   MR. LITTS:  Well --

       25                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'll withdraw the question.
�
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        1      As long as the exhibit is admitted into evidence, I agree

        2      with Mr. Fennick that there is no reason to go into cross

        3      examination of what the letter says because it speaks for

        4      itself.

        5                   MR. FENNICK:  Well, it doesn't mean I won't

        6      object to it's admissibility.

        7                   MR. LITTS:  Sir, do you have a copy of School

        8      District 50 in front of you, sir?

        9             A     Yes.

       10                   MR. LITTS:  Did you receive a copy of this

       11      letter?

       12             A     Yes.

       13                   MR. LITTS:  So, you're aware of its existence.

       14             A     Yes.

       15                   MR. LITTS:  Is it fair to say that the

       16      Department of Health took exception to how the charter

       17      school reported the evaluation of certain students for

       18      dental and physical and other types of scoliosis checks,
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       19      et cetera?

       20             A     Yes, this is a reimbursement letter.

       21                   MR. LITTS:  And they took exception about the

       22      paperwork that you guys completed.

       23             A     Yes.

       24                   MR. LITTS:  Okay.  Any other questions, Miss

       25      Schurdak?
�
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        1             Q     You're not aware, Mr. Severs, that in

        2      November's school board of trustees' meeting that the board

        3      wanted to change the Middle States accreditation to K

        4      through 8?

        5                   MR. FENNICK:  Objection.  Asked and answered.

        6      He said he doesn't go to the meetings and he wasn't aware of

        7      it.

        8             Q     Do you review the board minutes?

        9             A     Yes.

       10                   MR. FENNICK:  There's an objection on the

       11      floor.

       12                   MR. LITTS:  Well, I'm going to overrule the

       13      objection.  Attending the meetings and being aware of what

       14      the board may decide at the meeting is two different things.

       15      So, if she's asking "Are you aware that the board took some

       16      action to revise the Middle States accreditation

       17      application," that's fair game.

       18                   MR. FENNICK:  It may be, but I ask you to ask

       19      Ms. Schurdak when there's an objection not to continue

       20      asking questions.

       21                   MR. LITTS:  And I'll remind both of you to do

       22      that.

       23                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I don't think I did, for the
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       24      record.

       25                   MR. FENNICK:  Oh, yeah.
�
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        1                   MR. LITTS:  Hold up.  The document that you

        2      just shared, is that being marked as an exhibit?

        3                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I can if that makes it easier.

        4                   MR. FENNICK:  I have not been given this

        5      document as an exhibit nor notice that it would be used.

        6      So, I object to its use.

        7                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Well, that's true, he hasn't

        8      been given it, and that's because he went outside of the

        9      scope of the narrative summary provided to me on March 24th

       10      and I would point out that March 24th is not exactly

       11      providing me, as counsel, with much opportunity to prepare

       12      on top of getting two Redwells that are over 24 inches thick

       13      of documents to review late Thursday.

       14                   MR. FENNICK:  Well --

       15                   MR. LITTS:  Hold up.  It's a very simple

       16      question.  Mr. Severs, in your capacity as principal for the

       17      charter school did you become aware of the fact that the

       18      charter school at some point in time took some official

       19      action to revise the scope of the Middle States

       20      accreditation for the charter school?

       21             A     Now I am, yes.

       22                   MR. LITTS:  And when did you learn of that?

       23             A     They had -- well -- for this particular --

       24      Middle States?

       25                   MR. LITTS:  Yes.
�
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        1             A     Just when I got handed that document.

        2                   MR. LITTS:  So, prior to today you had no

        3      knowledge of that.
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        4             A     No.

        5                   MR. LITTS:  Move on to something else, Miss

        6      Schurdak.

        7                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Certainly.

        8             Q     With respect to the letter, and I -- the

        9      envelope was marked as Charter School 23.  This one,

       10      Charter School 23, and then the corresponding letter, what

       11      did you do after you received the letter?

       12             A     I provided those to Pastor Bloom.

       13             Q     Did you call Dr. Gustafson?

       14             A     No.

       15             Q     Did you write Dr. Gustafson?

       16             A     No.

       17             Q     Did you talk to anyone internally about the

       18      concerns raised in that letter?

       19             A     I talked to Pastor Bloom and Mrs. Sable.  And

       20      it would have been Mrs. Thorne at that time.

       21             Q     Are you aware if any response was formulated?

       22             A     No.

       23             Q     By the charter school in response to that

       24      letter.

       25             A     No.
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        1             Q     With respect to Student No. 1, Dr. Gustafson,

        2      after receiving the educational records, called you

        3      regarding the omission of certain documents in those

        4      records, correct?

        5             A     I don't know.  I don't recall her calling me.

        6             Q     She never called you to --

        7             A     I said I didn't recall.  I don't recall that

        8      part.
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        9             Q     Do you remember speaking with Dr. Gustafson on

       10      whether or not any discipline records which Student No. 1

       11      had been forwarded to the school district?

       12             A     I remember talking to somebody about the

       13      discipline records.

       14             Q     And do you remember that the person at the

       15      school district -- strike that.  I don't want an objection.

       16      The person you remember talking to about the discipline

       17      records was someone employed at the school district?

       18             A     Yes, somebody I was familiar with, but I don't

       19      remember who it was, the name, at that point.

       20             Q     And that person advised you that they didn't

       21      see anything in the records for Student No. 1 that would

       22      indicate any type of discipline issues, correct?

       23             A     I remember they didn't have the discipline

       24      issues, so my issue became trying to provide them the

       25      discipline record, that's all.
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        1             Q     But there were underlying discipline issues for

        2      Student No. 1.

        3             A     There were discipline -- there was a discipline

        4      issue.  I pulled it off the computer and sent it.

        5             Q     Do you know what date you sent that?

        6             A     No.

        7             Q     Did that get reported as an Act 26 violation?

        8                   MR. FENNICK:  Objection as beyond the scope of

        9      direct.

       10                   MR. LITTS:  Sustained.

       11             Q     Let's go to Tab 17.

       12             A     The appraisal report.

       13                   MR. LITTS:  What are you looking for?  That's

       14      an appraisal report.
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       15             Q     That's not it then.  It's Tab 15.  Well,

       16      School District 15.

       17                   MR. LITTS:  School District 15 is Tab 47.

       18                   MR. FENNICK:  Is that the letter from Mr.

       19      Langsam?

       20             Q     This is a letter written by the charter

       21      school's attorney in response to a letter written by Dr.

       22      Pfennig.  Have you ever have you seen this letter before?

       23                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm sorry, maybe I'm at the

       24      wrong -- hold on, please, Mr. Severs.

       25                   MR. LITTS:  Dan, we're at Tab 47, School
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        1      District 15.  There's a cover sheet that says Pocono

        2      Mountain School District.  The second page is a letter

        3      dated July 19, 2007.

        4                   MR. FENNICK:  Thank you.

        5                   MR. LITTS:  Miss Schurdak, I apologize.  You

        6      began asking a question.

        7             Q     Have you seen this before today?

        8             A     Probably.

        9             Q     In response to the accreditation question,

       10      and you'll find that on Page 3 of 5?

       11             A     What?

       12             Q     Page 3 of 5 of the exhibit.

       13                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm sorry, I have 200 pages in

       14      this exhibit and my second page is the same second page

       15      Mr. Litts has.

       16                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I am looking at the letter

       17      written by counsel and its says Page 3 of 5.

       18             A     Okay.  Does it say June the 8th, 2007?

       19             Q     It does.
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       20                   MR. LITTS:  I believe it's the fifth page of

       21      the exhibit including the cover sheet.

       22                   MR. FENNICK:  We'll have to compare these and

       23      make sure our package matches your package.

       24                   (Off record discussion.)

       25                   MR. FENNICK:  Anyway, go ahead and ask your
�
                                  Severs - Cross                      1608

        1      question.

        2                   MR. LITTS:  No, no, no, we're not going to

        3      screw around here.

        4                   (Off record.)

        5             Q     In response to Paragraph No. 6 there is a

        6      reference to look at Exhibit 6A and 6B regarding the issues

        7      surrounding accreditation.  Correct, sir?

        8             A     Yes, there is a reference.

        9             Q     And when you look at Exhibit 6B --

       10             A     Where am I going now?

       11             Q     Yeah, it's probably better -- it will be ....

       12                   MR. LITTS:  Off the record.

       13                   (Off record.)

       14             Q     The date of acceptance of candidacy status is

       15      signed May of 2007, isn't it?

       16             A     I'm looking at this exhibit.  It says:

       17      Acceptance of Candidacy Status.

       18             Q     Yes, dated May, 2007.

       19             A     May 8th, 2007.

       20                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm objecting to the line of

       21      questioning.  Once again, we have documents, they're in

       22      evidence.  If she wants to make a point about them she

       23      doesn't need to make a point by asking questions of a

       24      witness who said he hasn't seen them or doesn't remember

       25      seeing them.
Page 123



29MR10A1
�
                                  Severs - Cross                      1609

        1                   MR. LITTS:  Well, I think it's appropriate to

        2      ask questions about the date of candidacy status for the

        3      charter school or for accreditation and if this witness ....

        4                   (Off record.)

        5             Q     What took the charter school from July of '06

        6      to May of '07 to achieve the candidacy status?

        7                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm going to object.  There is

        8      no evidence that anything was done that is out of order or

        9      delayed and the question "What took the charter school so

       10      long," is only appropriate if we have competent evidence on

       11      what the procedure is supposed to be, so then we can ask

       12      whether it was followed or whether there were some delays,

       13      but --

       14                   MR. LITTS:  Why don't we ask it this way and we

       15      can avoid the objection?  What, if anything, did the charter

       16      school do during that period with regards to its candidacy

       17      for accreditation?

       18             A     We applied for candidacy and we waited for a

       19      representative from Middle States and then we waited for a

       20      letter that said that we could -- that we would be a

       21      candidate.

       22             Q     So, you applied for candidacy status.  When did

       23      you apply?

       24                   MR. FENNICK:  Asked and answered.  He said

       25      December.
�
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        1             A     December of '06.

        2                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I thought he said '07.  That's

        3      why I'm asking.

        4                   MR. FENNICK:  No, that's not why you're asking.
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        5      This is dated May.  He said '06, you know he said '06.

        6                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I'll move on rather than quibble

        7      with Mr. Fennick.

        8             Q     Mr. Severs, you have been noted on various

        9      educational records as the Local Ed. Agency rep.

       10             A     Okay.  Are we done with this?

       11             Q     For the moment, yes.  What is your role in that

       12      capacity?

       13             A     It depends on what the issue is.  As far as IEP

       14      meetings, as far as PIMS (ph), as far as ....

       15             Q     Let's start with an IEP meeting.

       16             A     Okay.  I sit in the IEP meeting to -- I review

       17      the IEP and I ask questions of the -- to make sure that the

       18      parents understand what's progressing.

       19             Q     I'm sorry, to make sure what?

       20             A     The parents understand what is going on in the

       21      IEP meeting.

       22             Q     What is the role of the LEA?

       23                   MR. FENNICK:  Objection.  This is beyond the

       24      scope of direct.

       25             Q     With respect to Student No. 1, which I think
�
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        1      Mr. Severs clearly testified about in his direct, what was

        2      your role as an LEA with respect to Student No. 1?

        3                   MR. FENNICK:  John, stop.

        4                   MR. LITTS:  Well, I'll overrule the objection.

        5      There was discussion on direct about Student No. 1 and it's

        6      fair game for cross examination.  So, Mr. Severs, did you

        7      attend the IEP team meeting for Student No. 1?

        8             A     Yes.

        9                   MR. LITTS:  Please describe your role.  At that

       10      meeting.
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       11             A     At that point in time it was the same as any

       12      other as far as the IEP meeting; to make sure that

       13      everything was aligned and continued, the process continued.

       14                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I have no further questions.

       15                   MR. LITTS:  Any redirect, Mr. Fennick?

       16                   (SCHNEIDER-SABLE LETTER dated 1-21-08 marked

       17      for identification as Charter School Exhibit No. 29.)

       18                             - - -

       19      REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FENNICK:

       20             Q     Mr. Severs, I'm showing you what we have marked

       21      as CS-29.  Is that a letter that you received from Helena

       22      Schneider-Sable in response to the concerns of Dr. Gustafson

       23      and her letter dated January 21, 2008?

       24             A     Yes.

       25                   MR. FENNICK:  That's all.
�
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        1      BY MR. LITTS:

        2             Q     Sir, I have some questions for you.  CS-29.

        3      I don't see any date on this.  When did you receive this

        4      letter?

        5             A     It was within -- before the end of the month.

        6             Q     The end of what month?

        7             A     January.

        8             Q     Of what year?

        9             A     Of 2008.

       10             Q     Thanks.  You referred to Miss Sotack of the

       11      Department as the charter school's supervisor of Special

       12      Education.  Is that correct, sir?

       13             A     She was the -- she supervises Special Education

       14      for the charter school.

       15             Q     I'm not trying to play games, so the answer to
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       16      my question is yes, you referred to her as a supervisor.

       17             A     She supervises, yes.

       18             Q     Because my next question is when you used the

       19      term supervisor can you explain to me what that means to

       20      you?

       21             A     That means I can -- I call her if I have any

       22      questions or any concerns about Special Education or if any

       23      teachers come to me that -- with procedural or legal

       24      questions that I can call her.

       25             Q     So, when you use the term supervise when
�
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        1      referring to Miss Sotack would you agree with my

        2      characterization that she's a resource person for you?

        3             A     Yes.

        4             Q     But she's not a supervisor in the sense that

        5      she will direct you, you must do this for Student 1 or

        6      Student 2.

        7             A     Well, no, not on a daily basis, no.

        8             Q     Now, you understand, and there was testimony

        9      before, that she does have some responsibility potentially

       10      to investigate complaints by a parent for people within your

       11      jurisdiction.

       12             A     Yes.

       13             Q     There is some testimony about bonuses that were

       14      paid and I just want to know what your role in that whole

       15      process was.

       16             A     I recommended bonuses for the staff and

       17      students.

       18             Q     And who did you make that recommendation to?

       19             A     Pastor Bloom.

       20             Q     And who was the final decision about whether

       21      those were awarded or not?
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       22             A     The board.

       23             Q     Mr. Fennick also marked Charter School 28 which

       24      was an intermediate unit fax and it looks like there's a

       25      Child Find -- do you have that in front of you, sir?
�
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        1             A     Yes.

        2             Q     And this is a charter school --

        3             A     Annual --

        4             Q     -- annual thing for a number of school

        5      entities.  The IU does this basically on behalf of school

        6      districts and a number of charter schools within its

        7      jurisdiction.

        8             A     Yes.

        9             Q     And this is for 2009?

       10             A     Yes.

       11             Q     I don't see anything for any earlier years.

       12      Is that correct?

       13             A     Correct.

       14             Q     And just so I'm clear on some things, you had

       15      referenced attending a meeting with Pastor Bloom and

       16      Attorney O'Donnell and Attorney Langsam with some school

       17      district folks and school district solicitors; is that

       18      correct?

       19             A     Right, in the Summer of 2006.

       20             Q     And that was surrounding the renewal of the

       21      charter school's charter; is that correct?

       22             A     Yes.

       23             Q     And ultimately that charter was renewed; is

       24      that correct?

       25             A     Correct.
�
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        1             Q     What was the -- what was your understanding of

        2      your role in that meeting?

        3             A     So that I would understand the -- each of the

        4      points that went over.

        5             Q     There was also a fair amount of testimony on

        6      direct and cross about Middle States accreditation and,

        7      again, sir, I'm just trying to understand.  Could you please

        8      describe your role in that whole application for

        9      accreditation?

       10             A     I was simply the facilitator in going through

       11      the process.  I put in the application, I greeted the

       12      representative from Middle States, I insured that everybody

       13      had communication regarding the Middle States process.

       14             Q     And from your perspective who's responsible for

       15      overseeing that application?  From the charter school.

       16             A     Pastor Bloom.

       17                   MR. LITTS:  That's all the questions I have.

       18      Do any board members have questions for this gentleman?

       19                   MR. BOCKELMAN:  I have a couple.

       20                             - - -

       21      BY MR. BOCKELMAN:

       22             Q     At that meeting that took place, I guess it was

       23      here, on the renewal --

       24             A     Down the hall.

       25             Q     On the renewal of the charter.
�
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        1             A     Right.

        2             Q     You said earlier when you testified that there

        3      was some discussion as to the makeup of the board.  Could

        4      you elaborate on that a little bit?

        5             A     Well, there was a lot of discussion on the

        6      makeup of the board.  It wasn't resolved when we left that
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        7      meeting.  The discussion was between the attorneys.  They --

        8      Reid didn't want to get into it, O'Donnell and Langsam

        9      didn't want to get into it.

       10             Q     Could you explain to me what you mean by they

       11      didn't want to get into it?

       12             A     Because of the civil rights litigation

       13      possibilities, church and state, you dictating the -- the

       14      dictating of who could -- what churches you go to, the

       15      definition of member.  There were a lot of questions people

       16      had, the attorneys had themselves about it.

       17             Q     Were you aware of the fact that that was a

       18      condition of the original charter that was granted to the

       19      Pocono Mountain Charter School?

       20             A     No.

       21             Q     You didn't read the original charter when you

       22      came on board?

       23             A     No.

       24             Q     And one other question.

       25             A     I read it after that, though.
�
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        1             Q     Were you aware that that was a condition of the

        2      original charter?

        3             A     I still had -- yes, and I still had questions

        4      about that.

        5             Q     I understand that.  Who determined who was to

        6      attend that meeting on behalf of the charter school?

        7             A     Pastor Bloom.

        8                   MR. BOCKELMAN:  Thank you.  That's all the

        9      questions I have.

       10                   MR. LITTS:  Any other questions from the board

       11      based on those questions?
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       12                   Do either of the attorneys have any further

       13      questions for the witness?

       14                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I only have some questions

       15      relating to CS-29 and that's because Mr. Fennick had

       16      introduced that or will be introducing it as an exhibit and

       17      I hadn't had an opportunity to do any cross on that exhibit.

       18                   MR. LITTS:  Well, all right.

       19                   MR. FENNICK:  I was trying to go with it speaks

       20      for itself.

       21                   MR. LITTS:  Understood.  If you have questions

       22      on 29, go ahead.

       23                             - - -

       24      RECROSS EXAMINATION BY MS. SCHURDAK:

       25             Q     Mr. Severs, if you can turn to Joint 14 as an
�
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        1      exhibit, and I, unfortunately, don't keep -- maybe I do have

        2      it.

        3                   MR. LITTS:  Joint 14 would be Tab 20.

        4             A     I have it.

        5             Q     And that should be, so we're all, literally, on

        6      the same page, a January 21 letter from Dr. Gustafson.

        7             A     Yes.

        8             Q     Am I correct that you asked Miss Schneider to

        9      provide feedback to Dr. Gustafson's letter of January 21st,

       10      2008?

       11             A     Yes.

       12             Q     And that, in fact, is what CS-29 is.

       13             A     Yes.  That's what is stated.

       14             Q     Did you agree with Miss Schneider's response as

       15      delineated or outlined in CS-29?

       16             A     I called Miss Sotack to see if she received a

       17      copy.  She didn't indicate that there was anything not to --
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       18      to disagree or agree about.

       19             Q     Mr. Severs, I'm asking -- I may not have made

       20      myself clear.  I'm asking you when you received

       21      Ms. Schneider's response to Dr. Gustafson's January 21st

       22      letter were you, you satisfied?

       23             A     Yes.

       24             Q     Did you have any questions regarding

       25      Miss Schneider concluding in the letter "If a student
�
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        1      receives the necessary accommodations and chooses not to

        2      fulfill what is expected of them it does not qualify as a

        3      disability."

        4                   MR. FENNICK:  I'm going to object to these

        5      questions as being beyond the scope of -- I guess it was

        6      redirect?  There was an initial question, did you do

        7      anything, was anything done in response to Dr. Gustafson's

        8      letter.  I introduced this letter.  What his state of mind

        9      was at the time he got this letter is beyond the scope of

       10      that examination.

       11                   MR. LITTS:  Well, I'll overrule the objection.

       12             Q     Did that cause any concern for you?

       13             A     That's why I called Dr. -- talked to Miss

       14      Sotack.

       15             Q     And if you read Paragraph 5 in CS-29

       16      Miss Schneider's Paragraph No. 5 doesn't respond to

       17      Dr. Gustafson's concern that the date of the Notice of

       18      Recommended Placement is after the date the parent signed

       19      the notice, does it?

       20             A     I'd have to read both letters again.

       21             Q     Please do.  That's why I actually had J-14 --

       22                   MR. FENNICK:  Again, whether it responds or not
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       23      is a question for the board, so I'm objecting to having him

       24      read both letters and decide to what degree it's responsive

       25      or not responsive.
�
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        1                   MR. LITTS:  The witness can respond, so I'll

        2      overrule the objection.

        3             A     Okay.  Would you restate your question?

        4             Q     Certainly.  Dr. Gustafson raised an issue in

        5      her January 21st, 2008, letter regarding the date of the

        6      Notice of Recommended Placement and the date of parent

        7      signature, okay?  Paragraph No. 5, as drafted by

        8      Ms. Schneider, does her comment address that particular

        9      issue?

       10             A     Yeah, there was a further explanation of it in

       11      the dealings with the parent.

       12             Q     In CS --

       13             A     But, no, it doesn't address it.

       14             Q     Thank you.

       15                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Nothing further.

       16                   MR. LITTS:  Mr. Fennick, do you have any

       17      questions for this witness?

       18                   MR. FENNICK:  No.

       19                   MR. LITTS:  Any reason why this witness

       20      shouldn't be excused?

       21                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I can't think of any.

       22                   MR. LITTS:  Thank you, sir, very much.  You are

       23      excused.  I'm looking at my watch here since I didn't wear

       24      one today.  It's 3:30.  Please call your next witness.

       25                   MR. FENNICK:  I do not have another witness as
�
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        1      tonight is the first night of Passover and I was hoping to

        2      get out of here a little early.
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        3                   MR. LITTS:  Since you don't have anyone

        4      available and I know you are devote to your faith I think we

        5      can honor that request.

        6                   MR. FENNICK:  Thank you.

        7                   MR. LITTS:  So, we'll recess the hearing.  I do

        8      want to talk to counsel because we talked about dates and I

        9      want to clarify some e-mails about this, so we'll do that

       10      off the record.

       11                   So, we stand in recess and we will be

       12      advertising a hearing date.  Is there anything else?

       13                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I want to move my exhibits into

       14      evidence.

       15                   MR. FENNICK:  Yeah.

       16                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Which I believe are 50 and 51.

       17                   MR. LITTS:  As far as what I have outstanding

       18      it's Charter School 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, and 29.  Is

       19      there any objection to any of those coming in?

       20                   MS. SCHURDAK:  Well, it depends.

       21                   MR. LITTS:  And I have School District 50.

       22                   MS. SCHURDAK:  And 51.

       23                   MR. LITTS:  And what's 51?

       24                   MS. SCHURDAK:  I have to go to a different

       25      pile.  You're right, I didn't give it to you.  Minutes
�
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        1      from -- School Board of Trustees minutes.  50 is the letter

        2      from the state on the nursing and health-related issues.

        3                   MR. LITTS:  Let's go off the record a second.

        4                   (Off record.)

        5                   (BOARD OF TRUSTEES MINUTES marked for

        6      identification as School District Exhibit No. 51.)

        7                   MR. LITTS:  For purposes of the record, we are
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        8      admitting Charter School 22 through 29 as well as School

        9      District 50 and 51.

       10                   With regards to Charter School 23 we are

       11      including not only the envelope but the letter accompanying

       12      it dated November 9, 2009.  That will be all one exhibit

       13      with appropriate redactions of the name.

       14                             - - -

       15                   (Whereupon, the above concluded at

       16      3:33 o'clock p.m. on Monday, March 29, 2010.)
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        1

        2                   C E R T I F I C A T I O N

        3                   I, Donna G. Kenderdine, R.P.R., do hereby

        4      certify that the foregoing was taken stenographically by me

        5      on March 29, 2010, and that this transcript is a true and

        6      correct transcript of the same, fully transcribed under my

        7      direction, to the best of my ability and skill.

        8                     I further certify that I am not a relative or

        9      employee of any of the parties in this action; that I am not

       10      a relative or employee of any attorney in this action; and

       11      that I am not financially interested in the event of this

       12      action.
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       14                          ______________________________
                                   Donna G. Kenderdine, R.P.R.
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